

# RULES FOR JUMPING CHAMPIONSHIPS AND GAMES

26<sup>th</sup> edition, effective 1 January 2018

Updates effective 1 January 2020

Printed in Switzerland

Copyright ©  $\frac{2016-2020}{2020}$  Fédération Equestre Internationale

Reproduction strictly reserved

## Fédération Equestre Internationale

HM King Hussein I Building Chemin de la Joliette 8 1006 Lausanne Switzerland t +41 21 310 47 47 f +41 21 310 47 60 e info@fei.org www.inside.fei.org www.feiworldcup.org

## RULES FOR JUMPING CHAMPIONSHIPS AND GAMES

26<sup>th</sup> edition, effective 1 January 2018, updates effective 1 January 2020

## **CONTENTS**

ARTICLE		PAGE
CHAPTER I	WORLD CHAMPIONSHIP (TEAMS AND INDIVIDUALS)	3
ARTICLE	300 ORGANISATION	3
ARTICLE	301 GROUND JURY, FOREIGN TECHNICAL DELEGATE AND COURSE DESIGNER	3
ARTICLE	302 VETERINARY COMMISSION	3
ARTICLE	303 ENTRIES	3
ARTICLE	304 DECLARATION AND SUBSTITUTION OF STARTERS (TEAMS AND INDIVIDUALS)	4
ARTICLE	305 QUALIFICATIONS	4
ARTICLE	306 EXPENSES AND PRIVILEGES	4
ARTICLE	307 TRAINING SESSION	5
ARTICLE	308 CHAMPIONSHIP COMPETITIONS	5
ARTICLE	309 FIRST COMPETITION (TEAMS AND INDIVIDUALS)	5
ARTICLE	310 SECOND COMPETITION (TEAM FINAL COMPETITION, SECOND INDIVIDUAL)	5
ARTICLE	311 TEAM PLACING	6
ARTICLE	312 REST DAY	7
ARTICLE	313 THIRD COMPETITION (INDIVIDUAL FINAL COMPETITION)	7
ARTICLE	314 INDIVIDUAL PLACING IN THE CHAMPIONSHIP	8
ARTICLE	315 PRIZES AND MEDALS	8
CHAPTER II	CONTINENTAL CHAMPIONSHIP (TEAMS AND INDIVIDUALS)	9
ARTICLE	316 ORGANISATION	9
ARTICLE	317 GROUND JURY, FOREIGN TECHNICAL DELEGATE AND COURSE DESIGNER	9
ARTICLE	318 VETERINARY COMMISSION	9
ARTICLE	319 ENTRIES	9
ARTICLE	320 DECLARATION AND SUBSTITUTION OF STARTERS (TEAMS AND INDIVIDUALS)	10
ARTICLE	321 QUALIFICATIONS	10
ARTICLE	322 EXPENSES AND PRIVILEGES	10
ARTICLE	323 TRAINING SESSION	11
ARTICLE	324 CHAMPIONSHIP COMPETITIONS	11
ARTICLE	325 FIRST COMPETITION (TEAMS AND INDIVIDUALS)	11
ARTICLE	326 SECOND COMPETITION (TEAM FINAL COMPETITION, SECOND INDIVIDUAL)	12
ARTICLE	327 THIRD COMPETITION (INDIVIDUAL FINAL)	13
ARTICLE	328 PRIZES AND MEDALS	14
CHAPTER II	RULES FOR THE YOUTH OLYMPIC GAMES (TEAMS AND INDIVIDUALS)	16
ARTICLE 329	9 - ELIGIBILITY OF ATHLETES AND HORSES	16
ARTICLE 330	O - OFFICIALS	16
ARTICLE 33:	L - FOREIGN TECHNICAL DELEGATE AND FEI VETERINARY DELEGATE	16
ARTICLE 33	2 - RULES FOR THE JUMPING COMPETITIONS	17
ARTICLE 33	B - SUBSTITUTION	18
ARTICLE 334	4 - CLASSIFICATION, MEDALS & PRIZES	19
ARTICLE 33!	5 - TEAM DISQUALIFICATION DUE TO A TEAM MEMBER OR TEAM HORSE TESTING POSITIVE	19
ARTICLE 33	5 - PRELIMINARY TIMETABLE	19

26<sup>th</sup> edition, effective 1 January 2018, updates effective 1 January 2020

## CHAPTER I WORLD CHAMPIONSHIP (TEAMS AND INDIVIDUALS)

## ARTICLE 300 ORGANISATION

- 1. Every four years, in the even year between Olympic Games, the Team and Individual World Championship may be organised under the authority of the FEI according to the following principles:
- 1.1. An NF will not normally be authorised to organise two consecutive World Championships.
- 1.2. This Championship must be organised in full compliance with all FEI Rules and Regulations, including the General Regulations (hereinafter "GRs"), the Jumping Rules (hereinafter "JRs"). It must also satisfy the conditions set forth in 1.3-1.6 below.
- 1.3. From the Monday of the week preceding and all days during the Jumping Event of this Championship it is forbidden to host an FEI World Cup™ Event, a CSI4\*, CSI04\*, CSI5\* or CSI05\* on the same Continent as the Championship. From the Monday of the week preceding and all days during the Jumping Event of this Championship it is forbidden to host an FEI Nations Cup™ Event (worldwide).
- 1.4. This Championship must be held outdoors.
- 1.5. The Championship may not be held as part of a CSI or a CSIO.
- 1.6 The programme for the Championship must include Competitions which are open only to Athletes entered in the Championship riding Horses which are not taking part in the Championship. The programme for each day may include one or two of such Competitions. Each Horse may only compete in one Competition per day. The FEI Secretary General must approve the conditions for such Competitions.

## ARTICLE 301 GROUND JURY, FOREIGN TECHNICAL DELEGATE AND COURSE DESIGNER

- 1. The President and the other members of the Ground Jury must be appointed by the FEI Jumping Director in consultation with the Jumping Committee in accordance with the provisions of the GRs and JRs Art. 259. The President of the Ground Jury, the Foreign Judge, and one member must be chosen from the list of Level 4 Judges and additional members of the Ground Jury from the list of Level 3 and/or Level 4 Judges.
- 2. The Foreign Technical Delegate must be appointed by the FEI Jumping Director in consultation with the Jumping Committee in accordance with the provisions of the GRs. He must be selected from the list of Level 4 Course Designers. At the discretion of the FEI, a second Technical Delegate may be appointed to coordinate with the Organising Committee on the overall organisation of the Event. The second Technical Delegate is not required to have experience in Course Designing (see JRs Art. 259.5.2.2).
- 3. With the agreement of the FEI Jumping Committee the Course Designer must be chosen by the National Federation (hereinafter "NF")/Organising Committee (hereinafter "OC") from the list of Level 4 Course Designers.

## ARTICLE 302 APPEAL COMMITTEE AND VETERINARY COMMISSION

- 1. The President and the members of the Appeal Committee must be appointed by the FEI Jumping Director in consultation with the Jumping Committee in accordance with the GRs.
- 21. The President and the Associate Member of the Veterinary Commission shall be appointed by the NF or the OC in agreement with the FEI Veterinary Committee. The Foreign Veterinary Delegate shall be appointed by the FEI Veterinary Committee. All appointees must be selected from the FEI List of Event Veterinarians.

## ARTICLE 303 ENTRIES

- 1. After approval of the Schedule by the FEI Secretary General, the invitations for this Championship together with the Schedule, are sent by the host NF to all NFs affiliated to the FEI.
- 2. Athletes and Horses entered for a Championship on the list of nominated entries (four weeks before the Championship) may be replaced and additions may be made within the limits specified in GRs 116.2.32 (i) until the date of definite entries (at the latest four days before the start of the Championship).
  - In the event of an accident or illness of an Athlete and/or Horse, substantiated by a certificate from an officially recognised doctor and/or veterinarian, between the date of definite entries and one hour before the first Horse Inspection of the Championship, substitutions of Athletes and/or Horses may be made. Such substitutions must be taken from the updated list of nominated entries and require Ground Jury approval.
- 3. Teams
  - A team is comprised of at least three Athletes and three Horses and at most five Athletes and 10 Horses.
  - Each NF may enter a maximum of 10 Athletes and 20 Horses with its nominated entries and a maximum of five Athletes and 10 Horses with its definite entries. Each NF may only send a maximum of five Athletes and 10 Horses.
  - Each NF may in addition send a Chef d'Equipe who will be accorded the same privileges as the Athletes.
- 4. Individuals instead of a team

An NF which cannot send a full team may enter one or two individual Athletes with two Horses each.

## 5. Additional Athlete and Horses

The additional Athlete (5<sup>th</sup> Athlete) and his/her Horses plus the Horses of team members or individuals not taking part in the Championship Competitions may compete in the non-Championship Competitions.

## ARTICLE 304 DECLARATION AND SUBSTITUTION OF STARTERS (TEAMS AND INDIVIDUALS)

#### DECLARATION

The declaration of starters will take place after the training session, which must be provided on the day preceding the first Competition of the Championship (Art. 307). At a time fixed by the OC, the Chefs d'Equipe will designate in writing the members of their team (three or four) or their individual Athletes and the names of their Horses (a single and same Horse for each Competition for the three Competitions of the Championship) as starters in the Competitions of the Championship.

## 2. SUBSTITUTION

In the event of an accident or illness of an Athlete and/or Horse between the submission of declarations and one hour before the start of the first Championship Competition, the Athlete and/or the Horse may, upon presentation of a certificate from an officially recognised doctor and/or with the permission of the Veterinary Commission, and after approval of the President of the Ground Jury and the Appeal Committee, be replaced by another Athlete and/or Horse formally entered with the definite entries or substituted according to Art. 303.2.

In the event of an accident or illness of an Athlete and/or Horse between the submission of declarations and one hour before the start of the first Championship Competition, the Athlete and/or the Horse may, upon presentation of a certificate from an officially recognised doctor and/or with the permission of the Veterinary Commission, and after approval of the President of the Ground Jury and the Appeal Committee, be replaced by another Athlete and/or Horse formally entered with the definite entries or substituted according to Art. 303.2.

## ARTICLE 305 QUALIFICATIONS

#### HORSES

The Horses must be nine years old or more.

## 2. ATHLETES

The Championship is limited to Athletes who have reached or will reach their 18<sup>th</sup> birthday during the year of the Championship.

## 3. CERTIFICATES OF CAPABILITY

Only those Athletes and Horses who are likely to be able to complete the Championship may be entered. NFs must send to the FEI a Certificate of Capability to this effect (see GRs). Athletes and Horses are not required to qualify as combinations.

This Certificate of Capability must include a record of the results obtained in Competitions satisfying the requirements as laid down in the Jumping Rules.

The procedure for qualification, laid down under JRs Annex VIII, must be strictly followed.

Upon arrival at the Championship, Chefs d'Equipe can exchange Athletes and Horses at will, whether originally qualified as combinations or not. After the first Championship Competition, no further changes are permitted.

## ARTICLE 306 EXPENSES AND PRIVILEGES

- The OC is responsible for the travelling expenses of the President and members of the Ground Jury, the President and members of the Appeal Committee, the Foreign Technical Delegate and the Foreign Veterinary Delegate.
- 2. The OC is responsible for the living and accommodation expenses of the President of the Ground Jury, the Foreign Technical Delegate, the Judges, the President and members of the Appeal Committee and of the Veterinary Commission, the Team Veterinarians, the Chefs d'Equipe, the Athletes, the grooms (one per Athlete) as well as the stabling and fodder of the Horses during the period of the Championship.
- 3. The OC is responsible for providing transport for the President and members of the Ground Jury, the Foreign Technical Delegate, the President and the members of the Appeal Committee and of the Veterinary Commission, the team Veterinarians, the Chefs d'Equipe, the Athletes, the grooms and the Horses during the period of the Championship.
- 4. The OC is responsible for meeting the travelling expenses of the Chefs d'Equipe, the Team Veterinarians, the Athletes and Horses belonging to the official teams and of their grooms, from the frontier of the host country, or the point of arrival in the host country to the location of the Event, including the cost of loading and unloading from a ship or aircraft in the host country and cost of quarantine. The same applies for the return journey.
- 5. The OC is responsible for meeting the government veterinary, customs and importation costs at the border of the host country.

## ARTICLE 307 TRAINING SESSION

- 1. The day prior to the first official Competition, the OC must provide a training period in the main arena with a course consisting of approximately eight obstacles including a combination.
- 2. Each Athlete is permitted a maximum of 90 seconds per Horse. Dress is informal; boots, breeches, shirt and protective headgear must be worn.
- 3. The public may not be charged to enter and prizes of any kind may not be offered.

## ARTICLE 308 CHAMPIONSHIP COMPETITIONS

- 1. The Championship comprises three Competitions. The total Penalties incurred by the three best placed Athletes of each team in the first Competition and in each round of the second Competition count towards the team placing, and the total Penalties incurred by each Athlete in each of the three Competitions count towards the individual placing.
- 2. The design and construction of all obstacles with regard to safety and technical suitability must be approved by the Technical Delegate and Course Designer. Should a dispute arise relating to these obstacles, the Technical Delegate has the final decision. The minimum diameter of poles used in all Championship Competitions must be at least 9 cm.

The water jump must be used three times in the Championship. It is compulsory in the first round of the second Competition. The Course Designer will, at his/her discretion, decide in which other Competitions the water jump will be used.

3. A sponsored obstacle is defined as one where there is advertising material or a sponsor's product or representation of a product inside the flags. If advertising or a product on the obstacle wings is more than 0.50 m2, the obstacle is also considered to be a sponsored obstacle. If the wings of an obstacle have advertising of 0.50 m2 or less, the obstacle is not considered a sponsored obstacle. No more than 30% of the efforts rounded up to the next whole number may be sponsored obstacles.

## ARTICLE 309 FIRST COMPETITION (TEAMS AND INDIVIDUALS)

1. Conduct, Table, Speed

This first Competition is conducted over a big Table A course judged under Table C (JRs Art. 239 and 263) without a jump-off in the event of equality for first place.

2. Obstacles, Length of the course

Twelve to 14 obstacles, including one double and one treble or three doubles. Height 1.55 m maximum, a spread in proportion not exceeding 2.00 m (2.20 m for the triple bar). A maximum of two spread obstacles with a width of 1.00 m or less may be used. Water jump, if used (refer to Art. 308.2) 4.00 m including the take-off element.

Length: 500 m minimum, 600 m maximum.

3. Participation

The Athletes and Horses declared as starters for the Team and Individual Championships are qualified to take part in this first Competition.

4. Starting order

The starting order in the first Competition is drawn in the presence of the Ground Jury, the Foreign Technical Delegate and the Chefs d'Equipe at a time fixed by the President of the Ground Jury in agreement with the OC after the training session. The draw for the starting order for individuals and teams will be conducted in accordance with the procedure laid down in JRs Art. 252. The Chefs d'Equipe of the teams with only three Athletes may choose in which of the three places out of four they will start their Athletes.

5. Penalties

The Score obtained by each Athlete in the first Competition will be converted into Penalties according to the following method. Each Athlete's time will be multiplied by the coefficient 0.50 and converted into points; the points must be rounded to two decimal places. The second decimal place will be rounded up from .005 and rounded down from .004. The Athlete with the lowest number of points after this conversion will be given zero Penalties, the other Athletes being credited with the number of Penalties representing the difference in points between each of them and the leading Athlete.

If an Athlete is eliminated or does not complete his/her round for any reason, he/she will be penalised with 20 Penalties more than the Athlete who has been the most severely penalised after the times of all Athletes who completed the Competition have been converted into Penalties.

## ARTICLE 310 SECOND COMPETITION (TEAM FINAL COMPETITION, SECOND INDIVIDUAL)

1. Conduct, Table, Speed

The second Competition is conducted over two rounds run over two days under Table A not against the clock, at a speed of 400 m per minute, with a jump-off against the clock in case of teams tied on Penalties for first place following

the first and second Competitions. At the discretion of the Technical Delegate, depending on the size of the arena, the speed may be reduced to 375 m per minute. The course of each round must be different.

2. Obstacles, Length of the Course (First and Second Rounds)

Twelve to 14 obstacles, including one double and one treble or three doubles. Height 1.65 m maximum with a spread in proportion not exceeding 2.00 m (2.20 m for the triple bar). A maximum of two spread obstacles with a width of 1.00 m or less may be used. At least two vertical obstacles, which must be minimum 1.60 m in height. Sloping walls do not count as compulsory vertical obstacles. At least six other obstacles of at least 1.40 m in height. Water Jump (compulsory in the first round of the second Competition, optional in the second round): 4.00 m including the take-off element.

Length: 500 m minimum, 700 m maximum.

- 3. Participation
- 3.1 First Round

Only the Athletes and Horses, which have taken part in the first Competition, may start in the second Competition.

- 3.2 Second Round
- 3.2.1 The second round is open only to the 10 best teams after the first round and those teams with equality of Penalties for 10<sup>th</sup> place and the 60 best placed Athletes (plus those tied for 60<sup>th</sup> place) according to their classification following the first Competition and the first round of the second Competition. Teams that withdraw before the start of the second round will not be replaced.
- 3.2.2 Members of teams who do not find themselves among the top 60 Athletes following the first Competition and the first round of the second Competition may take part in the second round only for the purpose of having their score count for the team classification.
- 3.2.3 Team Athletes who are among the 60 best placed Athletes following the first Competition and the first round of the second Competition, but whose team is not qualified for the second round, are permitted to take part in the second round as individuals.
- 4. Starting order
- 4.1 First Round

The starting order in the first round of the second Competition will be determined by a new draw in accordance with the same procedure as provided for the first Competition.

- 4.2 Second Round
- 4.2.1 The individuals among the 60 best placed Athletes (plus those tied for 60<sup>th</sup> place) following the first Competition and the first round of the second Competition will compete in the second round before the 10 best placed teams and those with equality of Penalties for the 10<sup>th</sup> place begin their second round. For the avoidance of doubt, team Athletes who are among the aforementioned 60 best placed Athletes, but whose team is not qualified for the second round, will compete as individuals in the second round (refer to Art. 310.3.2.3). There must be an interval of at least 30 minutes between the second round for individuals and the second round for the teams.

The starting order for those qualified to participate as individuals in the second round is according to the reverse order of total Penalties incurred in the first Competition and the first round of the second Competition. In case of Athletes with equality of Penalties, the Score (time) of the first Competition will decide their starting order.

4.2.2 The starting order of the 10 best placed teams and those teams with equality of Penalties for 10<sup>th</sup> place in the second round is according to the reverse order of the total Penalties of the best three Athletes per team incurred in the first Competition and of the best three Athletes per team in the first round of the second Competition. In case of equality of total Penalties teams retain the same starting order as in the first round.

## ARTICLE 311 TEAM PLACING

Teams which participate in the second round of the second Competition receive their placing by adding the Penalties incurred by the three best Athletes in each team in the first Competition and the Penalties incurred by the three best Athletes in each of the two rounds of the second Competition. The team which has obtained the least number of Penalties will be placed first and declared World Team Champion.

In the event of equality of Penalties between teams for first place, there will be a jump-off against the clock in which all team Athletes may take part, at a speed of 400 m per minute over at least six obstacles, which may be increased in height and/or spread. At the discretion of the Technical Delegate, depending on the size of the arena, the speed may be reduced to 375 m per minute. Teams on equality of penalties for any other placing will be placed according to the combined times of their three best Athletes in the second round of the second Competition, the team with the faster time being placed ahead of the team with the slower time.

The Score in this jump-off is obtained by adding the Penalties incurred by the three best Athletes in each team, but in the event of further equality of Penalties, the times of these three Athletes in this jump-off added together will decide the winning team. The score of this jump-off is only to determine the placing of the teams and will not count towards the final Scores of the individual Athletes.

26<sup>th</sup> edition, effective 1 January 2018, updates effective 1 January 2020

If after the jump-off there are teams with equality of Penalties and time, the teams concerned will be placed equal.

Teams not qualified for the second round of the second Competition receive their placing by adding the Penalties incurred by the three best Athletes in each team in the first Competition and the Penalties incurred by the three best Athletes in the first round of the second Competition. Teams on equality of Penalties will be placed equal.

In addition to the team classification there will be an individual classification with prizes for the second Competition.

## ARTICLE 312 REST DAY

A rest day must be scheduled between the second and third Competitions.

## ARTICLE 313 THIRD COMPETITION (INDIVIDUAL FINAL COMPETITION)

## 1. Conduct, Table, Speed

The third Competition is conducted under Table A not against the clock over two different successive rounds at a speed of 400 m per minute, without a jump-off in the event of equality of Penalties for first place in the classification of the Competition; in the event of equality of Penalties for first place in the overall classification for the Championship, there will be one jump-off against the clock (see Art. 314.2). At the discretion of the Technical Delegate, depending on the size of the arena, the speed may be reduced to 375 m per minute.

## 2. Obstacles, Length of the courses

Round A and Round B are approximately equal in the number of obstacles and the length of the course, Round B having an increased level of difficulty.

#### 2.1. Round A

Eleven to thirteen obstacles, including one double and one treble or three doubles. Height 1.65 m maximum with a spread in proportion, not exceeding 2.00 m (2.20 m for the triple bar). A maximum of two spread obstacles with a width of 1.00 m or less may be used. At least two vertical obstacles which must be minimum 1.60 m in height. Sloping walls do not count as compulsory vertical obstacles. At least six other obstacles of at least 1.40 m in height. Water jump, if used (see Art. 308.3): 4.00 m including the take-off element.

Length: 450 m minimum, 600 m maximum.

## 2.2. Round B

A different course from Round A comprising a maximum of 12 obstacles including two combinations (one double and one treble or two doubles). Height 1.65 m maximum with a spread in proportion not exceeding 2.00 m (2.20 m for the triple bar). A maximum of two spread obstacles with a width of 1.00 m or less may be used. At least two vertical obstacles, which must be minimum 1.60 m in height. Sloping walls do not count as compulsory vertical obstacles.

A water jump may not be included, but an obstacle with water beneath, in front or behind (a so-called "Liverpool') may be included in the course.

Length: 400 m minimum, 550 m maximum.

## 3. Participation

Round A of the third Competition is compulsory for the 25 best placed Athletes and Horses (including those placed equal for 25<sup>th</sup> place) according to the cumulative Penalties over the first and second Competitions.

Athletes must have taken part in the first Competition (completed or not) and have completed both rounds of the second Competition (without having been eliminated or having retired). If, for any reason, one or more of these 25 best placed Athletes are unable to start, they may be replaced by the next best placed Athlete(s) from the reserve list of five Athletes.

## Round B

Round B of the third Competition is open to the 12 best placed Athletes and Horses according to the cumulative Penalties over the first and second Competitions and Round A of the third Competition.

In case of Athletes tied on cumulative Penalties for 12<sup>th</sup> place following Round A, the result in Round A will be the deciding factor. In case of further equality of Penalties, the time of Round A will be used to break the tie.

## 4. Inspecting the Course Round B

Athletes will be invited to inspect the course for Round B at the conclusion of Round A.

## 5. Starting order

- 5.1 The starting order for Round A will follow the reverse order of Penalties incurred in the first and second Competitions. The Athlete with the most Penalties will start first, the Athlete with the least Penalties will start last. In case of Athletes with equality of Penalties, the Score (time) in the first Competition will decide the starting order, the Athlete with the slower time starting before the Athlete with the faster time.
- 5.2 The starting order for Round B will follow the reverse order of total Penalties incurred in the first and second Competitions and in Round A of the third Competition. The Athlete with the most Penalties will start first, the Athlete

with the least Penalties will start last. In case of Athletes with equality of Penalties, the Score (time) of the first Competition will decide the starting order, the Athlete with the slower time starting before the Athlete with the faster time

6. Classification and Prizes for the Third Competition

In addition to the overall classification for the Championship (see Art. 314.1), there will be a separate classification, with prizes, for the third Competition. Prizes in kind will be distributed to 25% of starters in the third Competition based on the cumulative Penalties of Rounds A and B. There will be no prize giving ceremony for the classification of the third Competition.

Refer to Articles 314.1 and 315.2 for details on overall classification and prizes for the Individual Championship.

## ARTICLE 314 INDIVIDUAL PLACING IN THE CHAMPIONSHIP

- 1. Athletes receive their overall placing by adding the Penalties incurred in the first, second and third Competitions. The Athlete who has the lowest total Penalties will be declared World Champion.
- 2. In the event of equality of Penalties for first place in the overall classification there will be a jump-off against the clock over at least six obstacles, which may be increased in height and/or spread. Athletes with equality of Penalties for any other placing will be placed according to their combined times in Rounds A and B of the third Competition, the Athlete with the faster time being placed ahead of the Athlete with the slower time.
- 3. If after the jump-off there are Athletes with equality of Penalties and time, the Athletes concerned will be placed equal.

## ARTICLE 315 PRIZES AND MEDALS

- 1. Prizes must be awarded for individual placing in each Competition. The allocation of prizes must follow the provisions of the GRs.
- 2. Prize money must be awarded for the overall individual placing in the Championship, and must be distributed to all Athletes taking part in the Individual Final as follows:
  - 25% of the prize money for the overall classification in the Championship will be distributed in accordance with the prize money distribution table published in the Schedule, to the Athletes placed 13<sup>th</sup> to 25<sup>th</sup> in the overall individual placing in the Championship following Round A. If fewer than 25 Athletes take part in Round A, the prize money foreseen for Athletes placed 13th to 25th will be distributed among the Athletes placed 13th to last in the overall individual placing in the Championship following round A.
  - 75% of the prize money for the overall classification in the Championship will be distributed to the Athletes placed 1st to 12th in the overall individual placing in the Championship following Round B. If fewer than 12 Athletes take part in Round B, the prize money foreseen for the first 12 placings will be redistributed among those who do take part.
- 3. FEI gold, silver and bronze medals will be awarded to each member of the three best placed teams in the Team Final and to the individuals placed first, second and third in the Individual Final.

## **CHAPTER II CONTINENTAL CHAMPIONSHIP (TEAMS AND INDIVIDUALS)**

#### ARTICLE 316 ORGANISATION

- 1. Every two years, in the uneven years between Olympic Games, the Team and Individual Continental Championship may be organised under the authority of the FEI according to the following principles:
- 1.1. An NF will not normally be authorised to organise two consecutive Continental Championships.
- 1.2. This Championship must be organised in full agreement with the GRs, the JRs and the following conditions.
- 1.3 From the Monday of the week preceding and all days during this Championship it is forbidden to host an FEI World Cup™ Event, an FEI Nations Cup™ Event, a CSI4\*, CSI04\*, CSI5\* or CSIO5\* on the same Continent as the Championship.
- 1.4. This Championship must be held out-doors.
- 2. The Championship may be held together with a CSI but not as part of a CSIO. If the Championship is held on its own, the programme for the Championship must provide also for Competitions open to Athletes entered in the Championship riding Horses which are not taking part in the Championship.
  - The programme for each day may include one or two of these Competitions. Each Horse may only compete in one Competition per day. The FEI Jumping Director must approve the conditions for these Competitions.
- 3. If the Championship is held together with a CSI, the training session on the first day is only open to Athletes of the Championship. For Athletes of the CSI, separate Competitions may be organised. From the second day on, the Athletes may be mixed.

## ARTICLE 317 GROUND JURY, FOREIGN TECHNICAL DELEGATE AND COURSE DESIGNER

- 1. The President of the Ground Jury must be appointed by the FEI Jumping Director in consultation with the Jumping Committee in accordance with the provisions of the GRs. He/she must reach agreement with the OC and with the FEI with regard to the appointment of the members of the Ground Jury.
  - The President of the Ground Jury and Foreign Judge must be chosen from the list of Level 4 Judges and the members of the Ground Jury from the list of Level 3 or Level 4 Judges. The President of the Ground Jury may also act as the Foreign Judge.
- 2. The Foreign Technical Delegate must be appointed by the FEI Jumping Director in consultation with the Jumping Committee in accordance with the provisions of the GRs. He/she must be selected from the list of Level 4 Course Designers. At the discretion of the FEI, a second Technical Delegate may be appointed to coordinate with the Organising Committee on the overall organisation of the Event. The second Technical Delegate is not required to have experience in Course Designing (see JRs Art. 259.54.2.2).
- 3. The Course Designer must be chosen from the list of Level 4 Course Designers.

## ARTICLE 318 APPEAL COMMITTEE AND VETERINARY COMMISSION

- The President and the members of the Appeal Committee must be appointed in accordance with the provisions set forth in the GRs.
- The President and the Associate Member of the Veterinary Commission shall be appointed by the host NF or the OC in agreement with the FEI Veterinary Committee. The FEI Veterinary Committee shall appoint the Foreign Veterinary Delegate and all must be selected from the FEI List of Event Veterinarians.

## ARTICLE 319 ENTRIES

- 1. After approval of the Schedule by FEI Jumping Director, the invitations for this Championship together with the Schedule, are sent by the host NF to all NFs affiliated to the FEI, in the Continent where the Championship is to take place.
- 2. Athletes and Horses entered for a Championship on the list of nominated entries (four weeks before the Championship) can be replaced and additions can be made within the limits specified in GRs Art. 116.2.32(i) until the date of definite entries (at the latest four days before the start of the Championship).
  - In the event of an accident or illness of an Athlete and/or Horse, substantiated by a certificate from an official recognised doctor and/or veterinarian, between the date of definite entries and one hour before the first Horse Inspection of the Championship, substitutions of Athletes and/or Horses can be made. Such substitutions must be taken from the updated list of nominated entries and require Ground Jury approval.
- 3. Teams
  - A team comprises at least three Athletes and three Horses and at most five Athletes and 10 Horses. Each qualified NF may enter a maximum of 10 Athletes and 20 Horses with its nominated entries and a maximum of five Athletes

and 10 Horses with its definite entries; however, each NF may only send a maximum of five Athletes, of whom four may participate in the Championship, and ten Horses. Each NF may in addition send a Chef d'Equipe to whom will be accorded the same privileges as the Athletes.

4. Individuals instead of a team

An NF, which cannot send a full team, may enter one or two individual Athletes with two Horses each.

4.1. Additional Athlete and Horse

The additional Athlete (5<sup>th</sup> Athlete) and his/her Horses plus the Horses of team members and individuals not taking part in the Championship Competitions may compete in the non-Championship Competitions.

- 5. If the Continental Championship is combined with another Discipline, the OC has the right to limit entries to one Horse per Athlete.
- 6. South American Championships Number of teams and individuals

A minimum of three NFs must be represented by teams. A minimum of three teams are required for this Event to be recognised as a Championship. Each NF may not be represented by more than two teams. Athletes and/or Horses may not change from one team to another team during the Championship. A maximum of two individual Athletes only are allowed to participate per NF, if the NF in question sends one team to the Championship. If the NF is not represented by a team, two individual Athletes may participate for the NF in question.

## ARTICLE 320 DECLARATION AND SUBSTITUTION OF STARTERS (TEAMS AND INDIVIDUALS)

1. Declaration

The declaration of starters will take place after the training session, which must be provided on the day preceding the first Competition of the Championship (Art. 323). At a time fixed by the OC, the Chefs d'Equipe will designate in writing the members of their team (three or four) or their individual Athletes and the names of their Horses (a single and same Horse for each Athlete for the three Competitions of the Championship) as starters in the Competitions of the Championship.

Substitution

In the event of an accident or illness of an Athlete and/or Horse between the submission of declarations and one hour before the start of the first championship Competition, the Athlete and/or the Horse may, on production of a certificate from an officially recognised doctor and/or with the permission of the Veterinary Commission and after approval of the President of the Ground Jury—and the Appeal Committee, be replaced by another Athlete and/or Horse formally entered with the definite entries or substituted according to Art. 319.2.

## ARTICLE 321 QUALIFICATIONS

1. Horses

The Horses must be eight years old or more.

2. Athletes

The Championship is confined to Athletes from the year in which they reach their 18<sup>th</sup> birthday.

3. Certificates of Capability

Only those Athletes and Horses likely to be able to complete the Championship may be entered. NFs must send to the FEI a Certificate of Capability to this effect (see GRs). Athletes and Horses are not required to qualify as combinations.

This Certificate of Capability must include a record of the results obtained in Competitions satisfying the requirements as laid down in the Jumping Rules.

The procedure for qualification, laid down under JRs Annex VIII, must be strictly followed.

Upon arrival at the Championship, Chefs d'Equipe can exchange Athletes and Horses at will, whether originally qualified as combinations or not. After the first championship Competition, no further changes are permitted.

## ARTICLE 322 EXPENSES AND PRIVILEGES

- 1. The OC is responsible for the travelling expenses of the President of the Ground Jury, the Foreign Technical Delegate and the Foreign Veterinary Delegate.
- 2. The OC is responsible for the living and accommodation expenses of the President and members of the Ground Jury, the Foreign Technical Delegate, the President and members of the Appeal Committee and of the Veterinary Commission, the Team Veterinarians, the Chefs d'Equipe, the Athletes and the grooms (one per Athlete) as well as the stabling and fodder of the Horses during the period of the Championship.

- 3. The OC is responsible for providing transport for the President and members of the Ground Jury, the Foreign Technical Delegate, the President and the members of the Appeal Committee and of the Veterinary Commission, the Chefs d'Equipe, the Athletes, the grooms and the Horses during the period of the Championship.
- 4. The OC is responsible for meeting the travelling expenses of Chefs d'Equipe, Team Veterinarians, Athletes and Horses belonging to the official teams and of their grooms, from the frontier of the host country, or the point of arrival in the host country to the place of the Event, including the cost of loading and unloading from a ship or aircraft in the host country and cost of quarantine. The same applies for the return journey.
- 5. The OC is responsible for meeting the government veterinary, customs and importation costs at the border of the host country.

#### ARTICLE 323 TRAINING SESSION

- 1. The day prior to the first official Competition, the OC must provide a training period in the main arena with a course consisting of approximately eight obstacles including a combination.
- 2. Each Athlete is permitted a maximum of 90 seconds per Horse.
- 3. Dress is informal; boots, breeches, shirt and protective headgear must be worn.
- 4. The public may not be charged to enter and prizes of any kind may not be offered.

#### ARTICLE 324 CHAMPIONSHIP COMPETITIONS

- 1. The Championship comprises three Competitions, each taking place on a different day. The total Penalties incurred by the three best placed Athletes of each Nation in the first Competition and in each round of the second Competition count towards the team placing and the total Penalties incurred in each of the first three Competitions count towards the individual placing.
- 2. The design and construction of all obstacles with regard to safety and technical suitability must be approved by the Technical Delegate and Course Designer. The minimum diameter of poles used in all Championship Competitions must be at least 9 cm. Should a dispute arise relating to these obstacles, the Technical Delegate has the final decision.
- 3. The water jump must be used three times in the Championship. It is compulsory in the first round of the team Competition. The Course Designer will, at his/her discretion, decide in which other Competitions the water jump will be used.
- 4. A sponsored obstacle is defined as one where there is advertising material or a sponsor's product or representation of a product inside the flags. If advertising or a product on the obstacle wings is more than 0.50 m² the obstacle is also considered to be a sponsored obstacle. If the wings of an obstacle have advertising of 0.50 m² or less, the obstacle is not considered a sponsored obstacle. No more than 30% of the efforts rounded up to the next whole number may be sponsored obstacles.

## ARTICLE 325 FIRST COMPETITION (TEAMS AND INDIVIDUALS)

1. Conduct, Table, Speed

This first Competition is conducted over a big Table A course and judged under Table C (JRs Art. 239 and 263) without a jump-off in the event of equality for first place.

2. Obstacles, Length of the course

Twelve to 14 obstacles, including one double and one treble or three doubles. Height 1.50 m maximum, a spread in proportion not exceeding two meters (2.20 m for the triple bar). A maximum of two spread obstacles with a width of 1.00 m or less may be used. Water Jump, if used (refer to Art. 324.3): 4.00 m including the take-off element.

Length: 500 m minimum, 600 m maximum.

3. Participation

The Athletes and Horses declared as starters for the Team and Individual Championships are qualified to take part in this first Competition.

4. Starting order

The starting order in this first Competition is drawn in the presence of the Ground Jury, the Foreign Technical Delegate and the Chefs d'Equipe, at a time fixed by the President of the Ground Jury in agreement with the OC after the training session. The draw for the starting order for individuals and teams will be conducted in accordance with the procedure laid down in JRs Art. 252. The Chefs d'Equipe of the teams with only three Athletes may choose in which of the three places out of four they will start their Athletes.

5. Penalties

The Score obtained by each Athlete in the first Competition will be converted into Penalties according to the following method. Each Athlete's time will be multiplied by the coefficient 0.50 and converted into points; the points must be

rounded to two decimal places. The second decimal place will be rounded up from .005 and rounded down from .004. The Athlete with the lowest number of points after this conversion will be given zero Penalties, the other Athletes being credited with the number of Penalties representing the difference in points between each of them and the leading Athlete.

If an Athlete is eliminated or retires, he/she will be penalised with 20 Penalties more than the Athlete who has been the most severely penalised after the times of all Athletes who completed the Competition have been converted into Penalties.

## ARTICLE 326 SECOND COMPETITION (TEAM FINAL COMPETITION, SECOND INDIVIDUAL)

## 1. Conduct, Table, Speed

This second Competition is conducted over two different rounds run over two days under Table A not against the clock and without a jump-off at a speed of 400 m per minute. At the discretion of the Technical Delegate, depending on the size of the arena, the speed may be reduced to 375 m per minute.

## 2. Obstacles, Length of the courses

Twelve to 14 obstacles, including one double and one treble or three doubles. Height 1.60 m maximum with a spread in proportion not exceeding two meters (2.20 m for the triple bar). A maximum of two spread obstacles with a width of 1.00 m or less may be used. At least two vertical obstacles, which must be 1.60 m in height. Sloping walls do not count as compulsory vertical obstacles. At least six other obstacles of at least 1.40 m in height. Water jump (compulsory in the first round of the team Competition, optional in the second round): 4.00 m including the take-off element.

Length: 500 m minimum, 700 m maximum.

## 3. Participation Round 1

Only the Athletes and Horses, which have taken part in the first Competition, may take part in Round 1 of the second Competition.

#### 3.1. Participation – Round 2

## 3.1.1 Individuals - Round 2

The 50 Athletes (plus those tied for 50<sup>th</sup> place) having the best score deriving from the addition of the scores obtained in the First Individual Qualifying Competition and Round 1 of Team Competition (Second Individual Qualification Competition) are allowed to participate in the Third Individual Qualification Competition which is the Round 2 of the Team Competition.

3.1.2 If the Athletes qualified as above under 3.1.1 are not members of a team which has been qualified to participate in Round 2 of the Team Competition, said Athletes will compete prior to Round 2 of the Team Competition. There will be at least 30 minutes interval between this round and Round 2 of the Team Competition.

## 3.2 Teams - Round 2

- 3.2.1 Round 2 of the Team Competition takes place after the individuals have participated (refer to paragraph 3.1.2 above). It is open only to the ten best placed teams and those teams equal on Penalties for tenth place after Round 1 of the Team Competition. Teams that withdraw before the start of Round 2 will not be replaced.
- 3.2.2 All teams allowed to compete in Round 2 of the Team Competition carry their Penalties forward from the First Individual Qualifying Competition and Round 1 of the Team Competition.

Score obtained in Round 2 by members of Teams who are not among the Athletes eligible to compete in the Third Individual Qualifying Competition as mentioned under 3.1.1 above, count only for the classification of their respective teams.

## 4. Starting order

## Individuals - Round 1:

First to start in Round 1 of the Team Competition are all individuals. The starting order of individual Athletes in Round 1 of the Team Competition is according to the reverse order of individual classification in the first Competition. In case of equality of Penalties for any place Athletes retain the same starting place as in the first Competition.

Teams - Round 1:

Following the first Individual Competition, teams are divided into two groups based on the results of the best three Athletes in each team. The first group of teams to start in the first round of the Team Competition is that with teams placed eleventh and beyond. The group with teams placed first to tenth and those placed *ex aequo* for tenth place start last. Teams in each group start in the reverse order of classification resulting from the first Individual Competition. There is a draw to decide the starting order for teams in case of equality of Penalties.

## 4.1. Individuals - Round 2

4.1.1 The starting order of the individuals qualified to compete as mentioned hereinabove under section 3.1.1 is set according to the reverse order of the aggregate Penalties incurred in the First and the Second Individual Qualifying

Competitions. In case of Athletes with equality of Penalties, the score of the first Competition will decide their starting order.

### 4.2. Teams - Round 2

- 4.2.1 The starting order of the teams qualified to compete as mentioned hereinabove under section 3.2.1 is set according to the reverse order total Penalties of the best three Athletes per team incurred in the First Individual Qualifying Competition and of the best three Athletes per team in the Round 1 of the Team Competition. Teams with equality of Penalties retain the starting order of Round 1.
- 4.2.2 Scores of individuals who are members of any team eligible to participate in Round 2 as provided herein above will count for the classification of their team in the Team Competition but also as their personal result in the Third Qualifying Competition if they are among the Athletes mentioned in paragraph 3.1.1 above.
- 5. Team Placing

The ten teams and those with equality of Penalties for tenth place receive their placing by adding the Penalties incurred by the best three Athletes in each team in the first Competition and the Penalties incurred by the three best Athletes in each of the two rounds of the second Competition. The team, which has obtained the least number of Penalties will be placed first and declared Continental Team Champion.

In the event of equality of Penalties between teams for first, second and/or third place, there will be a jump-off against the clock in which all team Athletes may take part, over six obstacles, which may be increased in height and/or spread at a speed of 400 m per minute. At the discretion of the Technical Delegate, depending on the size of the arena, the speed may be reduced to 375 m per minute. In the case of equality of Penalties for any of the Olympic team qualification places there will be a jump-off against the clock, in which all team Athletes may take part, according to the same provisions as the jump-off for first, second and/or third place. In case of equality of Penalties for any other placing, teams will be placed equal.

The score in this jump-off is obtained by adding the Penalties incurred by the three best Athletes in each team, but in the event of further equality of Penalties, the times of these three Athletes in the jump-off added together will decide the winning team as well as those placed second or third. The score of this jump-off is only to determine the placing of the teams and will not count towards the final scores of the individual Athletes.

If two jump-offs are required, the jump-off for the third place shall precede the jump-off for the first and the second place.

If after the jump-off there is equality of Penalties and time for one of the first three places, the teams concerned will be placed equal.

Teams not qualified for the second round of the Team Competition receive their placing by adding the Penalties incurred by the three best Athletes in each team in the first Competition and the Penalties incurred by the three best Athletes in the first round of the team Competition.

In addition to the team classification there will be an individual classification with prizes for this Competition.

6. Rest Day

A rest day must be scheduled between the second and third Competitions.

## ARTICLE 327 THIRD COMPETITION (INDIVIDUAL FINAL)

1. Conduct, Table, Speed

This third Competition is conducted over two rounds (A) and (B) each judged under Table A not against the clock with a time allowed at a speed of 400 m per minute (JRs Art. 238.1.1). At the discretion of the Technical Delegate, depending on the size of the arena, the speed may be reduced to 375 m per minute.

2. Obstacles, Length of the Courses

2.1 Round A

Ten to 12 obstacles, including one double and one treble or three doubles. Height: 1.60 m maximum with a spread in proportion, not exceeding 2.00 m (2.20 m for the triple bar). A maximum of two spread obstacles with a width of 1.00 m or less may be used. At least two vertical obstacles, which must be 1.60 m in height. Sloping walls do not count as compulsory vertical obstacles. Water Jump if used (see Art. 324.3): 4.00 m including the take-off element.

Length: 500 m minimum, 600 m maximum.

2.2 Round B

A different course from Round A comprising eight to ten obstacles including only one combination (one double or one treble). Height 1.60 m maximum with a spread in proportion not exceeding two meters (2.20 m for the triple bar). A maximum of two spread obstacles with a width of 1.00 m or less may be used. At least two vertical obstacles, which must be 1.60 m in height Sloping walls do not count as compulsory vertical obstacles.

A water jump may not be included, but an obstacle with water beneath, in front or behind (a so-called "Liverpool') may be included in the course. Length: 400 m minimum, 500 m maximum.

## 3. Participation

#### 3.1 Round A

Round A of the third Competition is compulsory for the 25 best-placed Athletes and Horses (including those with equality of Penalties for 25<sup>th</sup> place) according to the cumulative Penalties over the first and second Competitions or according to the cumulative Penalties over the first Competition and first round of the second Competition as well as the round replacing the second round of the team Competition for individuals and members of teams not qualified for the second round of the team Competition. Athletes must have taken part in the first Competition (completed or not) and have completed the second Competition (without having been eliminated or having retired) or have taken part in the first Competition (completed or not) and have completed the first round of the second Competition as well as the round replacing the second round of the team Competition for individuals and members of teams not qualified for the second round of the team Competition (without having been eliminated or having retired). If for any reason one or more of these 25 best placed Athletes are unable to start, they will be replaced by the next best placed Athlete(s) from the reserve list of Athletes.

#### 3.2 Round B

Round B of the third Competition is open to the 12 best placed Athletes and Horses according to the cumulative Penalties over the first and second Competitions and Round A of the third Competition. In case of Athletes with equality of Penalties for 12<sup>th</sup> place, the result in Round A of the third Competition will be the deciding factor. In case of further equality of Penalties, the time of Round A will be used to break the tie. If less than 12 Athletes take part in Round B the prize money foreseen for the 12 placings will be redistributed among those who do take part; Athletes who do not take part in Round B are not eligible to receive prize money.

## 4. Inspection of Course B

Athletes will be invited to inspect the course for Round B at the conclusion of Round A.

## Starting order

- 5.1. The starting order for Round A will follow the reverse order of Penalties incurred in the first and second Competitions. For those individuals and members of teams not qualified for the second round of the team Competition the starting order will follow the reverse order of Penalties incurred in the first Competition and the first round of the second Competition as well as the round replacing the second round of the team Competition. In the event of equality of Penalties, the score of the first Competition will decide the starting order. The 25<sup>th</sup> qualifier will, therefore, start as number one.
- 5.2. The starting order for Round B will follow the reverse order of total Penalties incurred in Round A of the Final Competition, as well as in the first and second Competitions. For those individuals and members of teams not qualified for the second round of the team Competition the starting order will follow the reverse order of total Penalties incurred in Round A of the Final Competition, the first Competition and the first round of the second Competition, as well as the round replacing the second round of the team Competition. The Athlete with the most Penalties will start first, the Athlete with the least Penalties will start last. In the event of Athletes with equality of Penalties, the score of the first Competition will decide their starting order.
- 6. Classification and Prizes for the Third Competition

In addition to the overall classification for the Championship (see Art. 327.7), there will be a separate classification, with prizes, for the third Competition. Prizes in kind will be distributed to 25% of starters in the third Competition based on the cumulative Penalties of Rounds A and B. There will be no prize giving ceremony for the classification of the third Competition.

Refer to Articles 327.7 and 328.2 for details on overall classification and prizes for the Individual Championship.

## 7. Individual Placing in the Championship

The individual placing is determined by adding together for each Athlete the Penalties incurred in the first Competition, as well as the two rounds of the second Competition (disregarding the Penalties incurred in the jump-off if there is one) and the two Rounds A and B of the third Competition. For those individuals and members of teams not qualified for the second round of the team Competition their score in the second round qualifier counts instead of the second round of the team Competition.

The Athlete with the least Penalties will be placed first and declared the Continental Champion.

In the event of equality for one of the first three places after Round B of the third Competition, there will be a jump-off against the clock at a speed of 400 m per minute over eight obstacles from the courses of Rounds A and B. At the discretion of the Technical Delegate, depending on the size of the arena, the speed may be reduced to 375 m per minute. The Athletes will be invited to inspect the jump-off course.

If two jump-offs are required, the jump-off for the third place shall precede the jump-off for the first place and the second place.

If after the jump-off there is equality of Penalties and time for one of the first three places, Athletes concerned will be placed equal.

## ARTICLE 328 PRIZES AND MEDALS

- 1. Prizes must be awarded for individual placing in each Competition. The allocation of prizes must follow the provisions of the GRs.
- 2. Prize money must be awarded for the overall individual placing in the Championship, and must be distributed to all Athletes taking part in the Individual Final as follows:
  - 25% of the prize money for the overall classification in the Championship will be distributed in accordance with the prize money distribution table published in the Schedule, to the Athletes placed 13th to 25th in the overall individual placing in the Championship following Round A. If fewer than 25 Athletes take part in Round A, the prize money foreseen for Athletes placed 13th to 25th will be distributed among the Athletes placed 13th to last in the overall individual placing in the Championship following round A.
  - 75% of the prize money for the overall classification in the Championship will be distributed to the Athletes placed 1st to 12th in the overall individual placing in the Championship following Round B. If fewer than 12 Athletes take part in Round B, the prize money foreseen for the first 12 placings will be redistributed among those who do take part.
- 3. FEI gold, silver and bronze medals will be awarded to each member of the three best placed teams in the Team Final and to the individuals placed first, second and third in the Individual Final.

26<sup>th</sup> edition, effective 1 January 2018, updates effective 1 January 2020

## CHAPTER III RULES FOR THE YOUTH OLYMPIC GAMES (TEAMS AND INDIVIDUALS)

## **Article 329 - ELIGIBILITY OF ATHLETES AND HORSES**

#### Article 330 - OFFICIALS

1. GROUND JURYIES AND APPEAL COMMITTEE

The President and Members of the Ground Jury<del> and of the Appeal Committee</del> are appointed by the FEI in consultation with the FEI Jumping Committee.

Their travel and accommodation expenses will be met by the IOC.

## 2. VETERINARY COMMISSION

- 2.1 A Veterinary Commission is responsible for the veterinary supervision of the equestrian events. It shall be composed of a President, a Foreign Veterinary Delegate and one Associate member, all of whom must be selected from FEI list of National Head Veterinarians and Official Veterinarians;
- 2.2 The President and the Associate Member shall be appointed by the NF of the country where the Games are held with the approval of the FEI Veterinary Committee.
- 2.3 The Foreign Veterinary Delegate shall be appointed by the FEI in agreement with the FEI Veterinary Committee.
- 2.4 The powers, obligations and responsibilities of the Veterinary Commission are laid down in the FEI Veterinary Regulations.
- 2.5 The travel and accommodation expenses for a pre-visit of the FVD as well as and other costs of the President and Members of the Veterinary Commission will be met by OC if they are national officials. Travel expenses of international officials will be met by the IOC.
- The Veterinary Commission must arrive at the venue for the Games not later than the day prior to the first Horse Inspection.
- COURSE DESIGNER

The Course Designer must be selected from the FEI list of Level 4 Course Designers.

The Course Designer will be appointed by OC from a list of three names drawn up by the FEI Jumping Committee.

The travel, accommodation expenses and other fees will be met by OC. Uniforms are provided by OC according to the International Technical Officials requirements.

4. CHIEF STEWARD

The Chief Steward for the Youth Olympic Games is selected by the FEI.

5. FOOTING SPECIALIST

For the Jumping arena ground preparations, a Footing Specialist must be appointed by OC from a list provided by the FFI.

Travel, accommodation expenses and other fees will be met by OC.

## Article 331 - FOREIGN TECHNICAL DELEGATE AND FEI VETERINARY DELEGATE

- 1. FOREIGN TECHNICAL DELEGATE (OLYMPIC CHARTER RULE 46, BYE-LAW 46)
- One Foreign Technical Delegate shall be appointed by the FEI in consultation with the FEI Jumping Committee.

  The Foreign Technical Delegate for Jumping is selected from the FEI list of Level 4 Course Designers or Retired Level 4 Course Designers.
- 1.2 The Foreign Technical Delegate for the next Youth Olympic Games may be appointed at any time after the conclusion of the last Games.
- 1.3 His powers, obligations and responsibilities are laid down in the IOC Olympic Charter, FEI General Regulations and in the FEI Jumping Rules.
- 1.4 The Foreign Technical Delegate is required, before the Games, to:
  - A. Give his/her opinion in regard to administrative and logistic arrangements for the accommodation, transportation and meals for all technical officials, judges, grooms and <del>competitor</del> Athletes. He/she must also check arrangements for the transportation, stabling and fodder for the Horses.
  - B. Carry out a quality control of Horses prior to selection for the Games.
  - C. Oversee the preparation and training of Horses.
  - D. Approve the sites for the Competitions including the practice and schooling areas.
  - E. Review and validate all technical elements of the test event for the Youth Olympic Games.

## RULES FOR JUMPING CHAMPIONSHIPS AND GAMES

26<sup>th</sup> edition, effective 1 January 2018, updates effective 1 January 2020

- F. Check the general layout of the competition venue.
- G. Ensure that the courses and arenas are thoroughly tested:
  - the Foreign Technical Delegate needs to ensure together with the Footing Specialist that the footing of the arena is of required standard. He/she may request that the arena surface be tested and that Horses and obstacles be made available to test the condition of the arena. the Foreign Technical Delegate is also responsible for ensuring the design of the obstacles created by the Course Designer are according to FEI Rules.
- H. Be present at least five whole days prior to the first Horse Inspection.
- 1.5 The OC will pay for travel expenses to the Youth Olympic Games, and for two pre-Youth Olympic Games visits by the Foreign Technical Delegate to the Youth Olympic Games venue including the Test event.

In exceptional cases only, additional visits by the Foreign Technical Delegate and/or FEI Coordinator will be covered by FEI with the approval of FEI Secretary General.

#### FEI VETERINARY DELEGATE

An FEI Veterinary Delegate (FVD) shall be appointed by the FEI to assist and advise the OC on the preparations for the Games and approve the veterinary and medication control infrastructure. The FVD will visit the equestrian venue at least once prior to the Games.

The FEI Veterinary Delegate will liaise, throughout the preparative phase, with the President of the Veterinary Commission, the FEI headquarters and communicate with the veterinary authorities of the host country.

## **Article 332 - RULES FOR THE JUMPING COMPETITIONS**

- 1. OFFICIAL TRAINING SESSION
- 1.1 The Official Training Session is held in the main Competition arena. A course with approximately ten obstacles including a combination will be provided. Athletes have 90 seconds to complete the course or any number of obstacles on the course. The training session is observed by the Ground Jury. No results are registered.
- 1.2 All Athletes must be present for the draw for the Horses and must take part in the training session to be eligible to compete in the Official Competitions.
- OFFICIAL JUMPING COMPETITIONS
- 2.1 First Competition Team Competition

One team per Continent – total thirty 30 Athletes (six teams).

Each Team consists of maximum five Athletes. The best three results per team count in each round (there are two drop Scores per team).

2.1.1 Format

Two rounds not against the clock over the same course with a jump-off against the clock in case of equality of penalties for 1st, 2nd and/or 3rd place. All six teams return for the second round. All team Athletes take part in the possible jump-off.

2.1.2 Starting order

The starting order of the teams in the first round is established according to a draw. As this is a Continental Team Competition format, the order of starting in each team will be decided by the Chefs d'Equipe.

The starting order of the teams in the second round is according to the reverse order of the total penalties incurred by the three best Athletes in each team in the first round. Teams with equality of penalties will retain the starting order of the first round.

The order of starting in the possible jump-off will be the same as in the second round. If more than one jump-off is required to determine medal placing, the jump-off for third place will take place before the jump-off for first and second place. Teams retain the same order of starting as the second round.

2.1.3 Classification

The team classification is decided by adding the penalties incurred by the best three Athletes of each team in each of the two rounds. In the case of equality of penalties between the teams for first, second and/or third place, a jump-off against the clock is compulsory in which all team Athletes participate. The Score in the jump-off is obtained by adding the penalties incurred by the three best Athletes in each team, but in the event of further equality of penalties, the times of these three Athletes in the jump-off added together will decide the winning team as well as those placed second or third. Teams with equality of total penalties for other places are placed equal.

2.1.4 Obstacles and other technical requirements

Number of Obstacles: 12

Min/Max length of the course: 500m/600m

Height: Maximum 120 cm Spread: Maximum 130 cm 26th edition, effective 1 January 2018, updates effective 1 January 2020

Speed: 350 m/min

The course must comprise one treble combination or two doubles. In the case of a jump-off, this will take place over a reduced course of six obstacles which may not be raised or widened.

## 2.2 Second Competition – Final Individual Competition

#### 2.2.1 Format

Two rounds A and B judged under Table A not against the clock in the first round and against the clock in the second round with a jump-off against the clock in case of equality of penalties for 1st, 2nd and/or 3rd place. (Art. 273.3.4.2 and 273.4.4 of the FEI Jumping Rules).

All Athletes participate in Round A. All Athletes who complete Round A go forward to Round B. The penalties in the two rounds are added. The Athletes will be invited to inspect the course of Round B.

### 2.2.2 Starting order

The starting order for Round A is established according to a draw.

The starting order for Round B will follow the reverse order of the penalties incurred in Round A. The Athlete with the greatest number of penalties will start first; the Athlete with the least penalties will start last. Athletes with equality of penalties retain the same starting order as in Round A.

The order of starting in the possible jump-off will be the same as in Round B.

### 2.2.3 Classification

The Individual classification is determined for each Athlete by the addition of penalties incurred in Rounds A and B. In case of equality of penalties for first, second and/or third place, a jump-off against the clock is compulsory. If more than one jump-off is required to determine medal placing, the jump-off for the third place will take place before the jump-off for the first and second place. In case of equality of penalties and time for any medal placing after the first jump-off, there is a second jump-off over the same course. In case of equality of penalties and time after the second jump-off, the Athletes concerned are placed equal. Athletes not participating in the jump-off will be placed according to aggregate Penalties over both rounds and the time incurred in the second round.

## 2.2.4 Obstacles and other technical requirements

#### Round A:

Number of obstacles: 12

Min/Max length of course: 500m/600m

Height: Maximum 130cm Spread: Maximum 140cm Speed: 350 m/min

## Round B:

Number of obstacles: eight

Min/Max length of course: 450m/550m

Height: Maximum 130cm Spread: Maximum 140cm Speed: 350 m/min

The course of Round A must comprise one treble combination or two doubles. The course of Round B must comprise one double or one treble combination. Round B must be different from Round A. In the case of a jump-off, this will take place over a reduced course of six obstacles which may not be raised or widened.

## 3. DECLARATION OF STARTERS (TEAMS & INDIVIDUALS)

## 3.1 Team Competition

Chefs d'Equipe must declare not later than 18:00 hrs the day prior to the Team Competition the order of starting of team members within their teams. This must be done following the draw for the Team Competition.

## 3.2 Final Individual Competition

Chefs d'Equipe must declare their Athletes that will take part in the Final Individual Competition. Declarations must be made prior to the draw. The draw takes place following the second Horse Inspection.

## 4. HORSE INSPECTIONS

There will be a first Horse Inspection followed by a re-inspection is necessary prior to the Team Competition. There will be a second Horse Inspection prior to the Final Individual Competition.

The order of presenting Horses for the first Horse Inspection will follow the alphabetical order of names of Horses. The order of presenting Horses for the second Horse Inspection will follow the alphabetical order of Athletes' NOC abbreviations.

## Article 333 - SUBSTITUTION

## 1. ATHLETES

Substitution of Athletes must be made prior to the deadline date established by the IOC.

However, in case an Athlete is unable to participate due to injury following the deadline date for final entries a substitution may be made by the NOC of the Athlete in question by a deadline date to be established by the IOC. If the NOC in question is unable to replace its Athlete a substitution may be made by the next best qualified NOC from the same Group by a deadline date to be established by the IOC.

## 2. HORSES

At least six reserve Horses are provided by the YOG OC. Substitutions will be allowed in the event of an accident or illness of a Horse upon presentation of a Vet Certificate from the Veterinary Commission.

For Veterinary reasons substitution of a Horse can take place prior to the Warm-Up Session or between the Team Competition and the Individual Competition.

For safety reasons substitution will also be allowed in case of incompatibility of the Athlete and the Horse. Decisions on substitutions are taken by the Ground Jury in consultations with the Chief Steward. Requests for <u>such</u> substitutions must be presented by the Chef d'Equipe to the Ground Jury not later than 18:00hrs the day prior to the start of the first official Competition.

## 3. TRAINING SESSIONS IN CASE OF SUBSTITUTION

In case of a substitution of a Horse after the Training Session on the third day, or between the Team Competition and the Individual Competition, at least one additional Training Session must be scheduled for the new combination to allow the Athlete to familiarize himself with the Horse prior to taking part in an Official Competition.

## **Article 334 - CLASSIFICATION, MEDALS & PRIZES**

## 1. MEDAL COMPETITIONS

Only one set of medals will be awarded for each equestrian medal Competition.

#### PRIZES

Medals will be awarded according to the Olympic Charter Rule 56.

## 2.1 Individual

Medals and diplomas are awarded to the individual Athletes placed  $1^{st}$ ,  $2^{nd}$  and  $3^{rd}$ .

Diplomas are awarded to the individual Athletes placed 4th, 5th, 6th, 7th and 8th.

## 2.2 Teams

Medals and diplomas are awarded to all members of teams placed  $1^{st}$ ,  $2^{nd}$  and  $3^{rd}$  providing Athletes that have taken part in at least one Competition or test.

Diplomas are awarded to each team member placed 4<sup>th</sup>, 5<sup>th</sup> and 6<sup>th</sup>.

## 2.3 Horses

Rosettes (ribbons) and stable plaques provided by the OC will be awarded to the Horses of all Athletes who have received a medal or a diploma.

## Article 335 - TEAM DISQUALIFICATION DUE TO A TEAM MEMBER OR TEAM HORSE TESTING POSITIVE

Should an Athlete and/or Horse be disqualified from the Games for a positive test(s) for a Prohibited Substance as set forth in the Equine Anti-Doping and Controlled Medication Regulations for the Youth Olympic Games, the Athlete's result will be annulled and the entire team disqualified. The other team members may however take part in the Final Individual Competition.

Should a tie for a medal placing arise as a result of a team being disqualified due to one of its Athletes/Horses testing positive, the tie is broken by the following procedure:

- By taking the best team score in the second round of the Team Competition;
- In case of a further tie for a medal placing the result of the fourth Athlete in the first round is decisive;
- In case of a further tie the result of the fifth Athlete in the first round is decisive;
- In case of a further tie the result of the fourth Athlete in the second round is decisive;
- In case of a further tie the result of the fifth Athlete in the second round is decisive.

## Article 336 - PRELIMINARY TIMETABLE

 $1^{\text{st}}$  Day Horse Inspection, Draw For Horses, Training Session

2<sup>nd</sup> Day Training Session

3<sup>rd</sup> Day Training Session

 $4^{th}$  Day Warm-Up Session, Technical Meeting, Draw of the Team Competition

 $5^{\text{th}}$  Day Team Competition  $1^{\text{st}}$  Round

## RULES FOR JUMPING CHAMPIONSHIPS AND GAMES

Chapter III – Youth Olympic Games

26<sup>th</sup> edition, effective 1 January 2018, updates effective 1 January 2020

 $6^{th}$  Day Team Final Competition  $2^{nd}$  Round & Jump-Off - Team Medal Ceremony

7<sup>th</sup> Day Rest Day

8<sup>th</sup> Day Rest Day, Horse Inspection Individual Competition, Draw of the Individual Competition

9<sup>th</sup> Day Individual Competition Round A

10<sup>th</sup> Day Individual Final – Individual Competition Round B & Jump-Off - Individual Medal Ceremony

#### ANNEX I RULES FOR THE PAN-AMERICAN GAMES

- ORGANISATION
- 1.1. EVERY FOUR YEARS, THE YEAR BEFORE THE OLYMPIC GAMES THE PAN-AMERICAN GAMES MAY BE ORGANISED UNDER THE AUTHORITY OF THE FEI ACCORDING TO THE FOLLOWING PRINCIPLES:
- 1.1.1. THE HOST NATION WILL BE DESIGNATED BY THE PAN AMERICAN SPORT ORGANISATION (PASO).
- 1.1.2. THESE GAMES MUST BE ORGANISED IN FULL AGREEMENT WITH THE GRS, THE JRS AND THE FOLLOWING
- 1.1.3, IN THE WEEK PRECEDING AND DURING THESE GAMES IT IS FORBIDDEN TO HOST A CSI4\* OR CSI5\* OR CSIO5\* ON THE SAME CONTINENT AS THE GAMES.
- 1.1.4. THESE GAMES MUST BE HELD OUTDOORS.
- 2. GROUND JURY, FOREIGN TECHNICAL DELEGATE AND COURSE DESIGNER
- 2.1. THE PRESIDENT OF THE GROUND JURY MUST BE APPOINTED BY THE FEI JUMPING DIRECTOR IN CONSULTATION WITH THE JUMPING COMMITTEE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROVISIONS OF THE GRS. HE MUST REACH AGREEMENT WITH THE OC AND WITH THE FEI WITH REGARD TO THE APPOINTMENT OF THE MEMBERS OF THE GROUND JURY.
- THE PRESIDENT OF THE GROUND JURY WHO MUST BE FOREIGN MUST BE CHOSEN FROM THE LIST OF LEVEL 4
  JUDGES AND THE MEMBERS OF THE GROUND JURY FROM THE LIST OF LEVEL 3 JUDGES.
- 2.2. THE FOREIGN TECHNICAL DELEGATE MUST BE APPOINTED BY THE FEI JUMPING DIRECTOR IN CONSULTATION WITH THE JUMPING COMMITTEE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROVISIONS OF THE GRS. HE MUST BE SELECTED FROM THE LIST OF LEVEL 4 COURSE DESIGNERS.
- 2.3. THE COURSE DESIGNER MUST BE CHOSEN FROM THE LIST OF LEVEL 4 COURSE DESIGNERS.
- 3. APPEAL COMMITTEE AND VETERINARY COMMISSION
- 3.1. THE PRESIDENT AND THE MEMBERS OF THE APPEAL COMMITTEE MUST BE APPOINTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROVISIONS SET FORTH IN THE GRS.
- 3.2. THE PRESIDENT AND THE ASSOCIATE MEMBER OF THE VETERINARY COMMISSION SHALL BE APPOINTED BY THE HOST NF OR THE OC IN AGREEMENT WITH THE FEI VETERINARY COMMITTEE. THE FEI VETERINARY COMMITTEE SHALL APPOINT THE FOREIGN VETERINARY DELEGATE AND ALL MUST BE SELECTED FROM THE FEI LIST OF EVENT VETERINARIANS.
- 4. ENTRIES
- 4.1. AFTER APPROVAL OF THE SCHEDULE BY FEI JUMPING DIRECTOR, THE INVITATIONS FOR THESE GAMES TOGETHER WITH THE SCHEDULE, ARE SENT BY THE HOST NF/OC TO ALL NFS AFFILIATED TO THE FEI THAT ARE QUALIFIED TO TAKE PART IN THE GAMES,
- 4.2. ATHLETES AND HORSES ENTERED ON THE LIST OF NOMINATED ENTRIES (FOUR WEEKS BEFORE THE GAMES) CAN BE REPLACED AND ADDITIONS CAN BE MADE WITHIN THE LIMITS SPECIFIED IN GRS ART. 116.2.3(I) UNTIL THE DATE OF DEFINITE ENTRIES (FOUR DAYS BEFORE THE START OF THE GAMES).
- IN THE EVENT OF AN ACCIDENT OR ILLNESS OF AN ATHLETE AND/OR HORSE, SUBSTANTIATED BY A CERTIFICATE FROM AN OFFICIAL RECOGNISED DOCTOR AND/OR VETERINARIAN, BETWEEN THE DATE OF DEFINITE ENTRIES AND ONE HOUR BEFORE THE FIRST HORSE INSPECTION OF THE GAMES, SUBSTITUTIONS OF ATHLETES AND/OR HORSES CAN BE MADE. SUCH SUBSTITUTIONS MUST BE TAKEN FROM THE UPDATED LIST OF NOMINATED ENTRIES AND REQUIRE GROUND JURY APPROVAL.

## 4.3. TEAMS

A TEAM COMPRISES AT LEAST THREE ATHLETES AND THREE HORSES AND AT MOST FIVE ATHLETES AND FIVE HORSES. EACH QUALIFIED NF MAY ENTER A MAXIMUM OF 10 ATHLETES AND 10 HORSES WITH ITS NOMINATED ENTRIES AND A MAXIMUM OF FIVE ATHLETES AND FIVE HORSES WITH ITS DEFINITE ENTRIES; HOWEVER, EACH NF MAY ONLY SEND A MAXIMUM OF FIVE ATHLETES AND FIVE HORSES, OF WHOM FOUR MAY PARTICIPATE IN THE GAMES. EACH NF MAY IN ADDITION SEND A CHEF D'EQUIPE TO WHOM WILL BE ACCORDED THE SAME PRIVILEGES AS THE ATHLETES.

<del>26<sup>th</sup> e</del>	dition, effective 1 January 2018, updates effective 1 January 2019
4.4.	INDIVIDUALS INSTEAD OF A TEAM
	AN NF, WHICH CANNOT SEND A FULL TEAM, MAY ENTER ONE OR TWO INDIVIDUAL ATHLETES WITH A TOTAL OF 1 HORSE EACH.
5.	DECLARATION AND SUBSTITUTION OF STARTERS (TEAMS AND INDIVIDUALS)
5.1.	— DECLARATION
	THE DECLARATION OF STARTERS WILL TAKE PLACE AFTER THE TRAINING SESSION, WHICH MUST BE PROVIDED ON THE DAY PRECEDING THE FIRST COMPETITION OF THE GAMES. AT A TIME FIXED BY THE OC, THE CHEFS D'EQUIPE WILL DESIGNATE IN WRITING THE MEMBERS OF THEIR TEAM (THREE OR FOUR) OR THEIR INDIVIDUAL ATHLETES AND THE NAME OF THEIR HORSE (A SINGLE AND SAME HORSE FOR EACH ATHLETE FOR THE THREE COMPETITIONS OF THE GAMES).
<del>5.2.</del>	SUBSTITUTION
	IN THE EVENT OF AN ACCIDENT OR ILLNESS OF AN ATHLETE AND/OR HORSE BETWEEN THE SUBMISSION OF DECLARATIONS AND ONE HOUR BEFORE THE START OF THE FIRST GAMES COMPETITION, THE ATHLETE AND/OR THE HORSE MAY, ON PRODUCTION OF A CERTIFICATE FROM AN OFFICIALLY RECOGNISED DOCTOR AND/OR WITH THE PERMISSION OF THE VETERINARY COMMISSION AND AFTER APPROVAL OF THE PRESIDENT OF THE GROUND JURY AND THE APPEAL COMMITTEE, BE REPLACED BY ANOTHER ATHLETE AND/OR HORSE FORMALLY ENTERED WITH THE DEFINITE ENTRIES OR SUBSTITUTED ACCORDING TO PARAGRAPH 4.2.
6.	<del>QUALIFICATIONS</del>
6.1.	<del>-HORSES</del>
	THE HORSES MUST BE EIGHT YEARS OLD OR MORE.
6.2.	-ATHLETES
	THE GAMES ARE CONFINED TO ATHLETES FROM THE YEAR IN WHICH THEY REACH THEIR 18TH BIRTHDAY.
6.3.	-CERTIFICATES OF CAPABILITY
	ONLY THOSE ATHLETES AND HORSES LIKELY TO BE ABLE TO COMPLETE THE GAMES MAY BE ENTERED. NFS MUST SEND TO THE FEI A CERTIFICATE OF CAPABILITY TO THIS EFFECT (SEE GRS). ATHLETES AND HORSES ARE NOT
	REQUIRED TO QUALIFY AS COMBINATIONS.
	THIS CERTIFICATE OF CAPABILITY MUST INCLUDE A RECORD OF THE RESULTS OBTAINED IN COMPETITIONS SATISFYING THE REQUIREMENTS AS LAID DOWN IN THE PRESENT RULES.
	THE PROCEDURE FOR QUALIFICATION MUST BE STRICTLY FOLLOWED.
	UPON ARRIVAL AT THE GAMES, CHEFS D'EQUIPE CAN EXCHANGE ATHLETES AND HORSES AT WILL, WHETHER ORIGINALLY QUALIFIED AS COMBINATIONS OR NOT. AFTER THE FIRST COMPETITION, NO FURTHER CHANGES ARE PERMITTED.
<del>7.</del>	EXPENSES AND PRIVILEGES
7.1.	THE OC IS RESPONSIBLE FOR MEETING EXPENSES OF OFFICIALS AS WELL AS THE ATHLETES AND THEIR HORSES AS COVERED IN THE PAN-AMERICAN GAMES REGULATIONS BY PASO.
8.	TRAINING SESSION
8.1.	THE OC, IN AGREEMENT WITH THE FOREIGN TECHNICAL DELEGATE, MUST ORGANISE A TRAINING SESSION FOR THE ATHLETES OF THE JUMPING COMPETITIONS IN THE MAIN COMPETITION ARENA UNDER THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS:
	IT MUST TAKE PLACE AT THE LATEST THE DAY BEFORE THE FIRST OFFICIAL COMPETITION;
	A COURSE CONSISTING OF A MAXIMUM OF TEN OBSTACLES, INCLUDING A COMBINATION; MAXIMUM HEIGHT 1.50M;

Annex I - Pan-Am Games

RULES FOR JUMPING CHAMPIONSHIPS AND GAMES

EACH ATHLETE IS PERMITTED A MAXIMUM OF 90 SECONDS PER HORSE;

<b>RULES</b>	<del>S FOR JUMPING CHAMPIONSHIPS AND GAMES Annex I – Pan-Am Gam</del> e
<del>26<sup>th</sup>-e</del>	dition, effective 1 January 2018, updates effective 1 January 2019
	DRESS IS INFORMAL, BOOTS, BREECHES, SHIRT AND PROTECTIVE HEADGEAR MUST BE WORN;
	THIS TRAINING SESSION IS OPEN TO A MAXIMUM OF FIVE ATHLETES AND FIVE HORSES PER TEAM;
	THE PUBLIC MAY NOT BE CHARGED TO ENTER AND PRIZES OF ANY KIND MAY NOT BE OFFERED.
9.	OFFICIAL COMPETITIONS OF THE PAN AMERICAN GAMES
9.1.	THE OFFICIAL PROGRAMME OF THE PAN AMERICAN GAMES WILL COMPRISE THE FOLLOWING COMPETITIONS:
	THE FIRST INDIVIDUAL QUALIFYING COMPETITION;
	THE TEAM JUMPING COMPETITION, THE FIRST AND SECOND ROUNDS ALSO COUNT AS THE SECOND AND THIF INDIVIDUAL QUALIFYING COMPETITIONS;
	THE FINAL INDIVIDUAL JUMPING COMPETITION.
9.2.	- OBSTACLES
9.2.1.	THE DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION OF OBSTACLES WITH REGARD TO SAFETY AND TECHNICAL SUITABILITY MUSE APPROVED BY THE TECHNICAL DELEGATE AND COURSE DESIGNER. SHOULD A DISPUTE ARISE RELATING THESE OBSTACLES, THE TECHNICAL DELEGATE HAS THE FINAL DECISION.
9.2.2.	THE WATER JUMP MUST BE USED THREE TIMES IN THE OFFICIAL COMPETITIONS OF THE PAN-AMERICAN GAME IT IS COMPULSORY IN THE FIRST AND SECOND ROUND OF THE TEAM COMPETITION AND IN THE FIRST ROUND OF THE INDIVIDUAL FINAL. FURTHER USE OF THE WATER JUMP IS AT THE DISCRETION OF THE COURSESIGNER.
<del>10.</del>	THE FIRST INDIVIDUAL QUALIFYING COMPETITION
FIRST (	COMPETITION DAY
10.1.	CONDUCT, TABLE, SPEED
	THE FIRST INDIVIDUAL QUALIFYING COMPETITION IS CONDUCTED OVER A BIG TABLE A COURSE AND JUDGE UNDER TABLE C (JRS ART. 239 AND 263), AT A SPEED OF 375 M PER MINUTE WITHOUT A JUMP OFF IN THE EVER OF EQUALITY FOR FIRST PLACE.
	THIS COMPETITION COUNTS AS A QUALIFICATION FOR THE FINAL INDIVIDUAL COMPETITION AND ESTABLISHISH THE STARTING ORDER FOR THE TEAM COMPETITION. THE SCORE OF THE BEST THREE ATHLETES IN EACH TEAM WILL BE ADDED TOGETHER. TEAMS START IN THE FIRST ROUND OF THE TEAM COMPETITION IN THE REVERS ORDER OF PENALTIES OBTAINED IN THIS COMPETITION.
<del>10.2.</del>	OBSTACLES, LENGTH OF THE COURSE
	TWELVE TO 14 OBSTACLES THAT INCLUDE A DOUBLE AND A TRIPLE OR THREE DOUBLES. MAXIMUM HEIGHT (1.50 M WITH A SPREAD IN PROPORTION NOT TO EXCEED 2.00 M (2.20 M FOR THE TRIPLE BAR). THERE MUST I TWO VERTICAL OBSTACLES OF 1.50 M. SLOPING WALLS DO NOT COUNT AS COMPULSORY VERTICAL OBSTACLE A MAXIMUM OF TWO SPREAD OBSTACLES WITH A WIDTH OF 1.00 M OR LESS MAY BE USED. IT IS NO COMPULSORY TO HAVE A WATER JUMP. IF THE WATER JUMP IS USED (REFER TO PARAGRAPH 9.2.2), IT MUST A SPREAD OF WATER 4.00 M INCLUDING THE TAKE-OFF ELEMENT.
	LENGTH: 500 M MINIMUM, 600 M MAXIMUM.
10.3.	— PARTICIPATION
	THE ATHLETES AND HORSES DECLARED AS STARTERS FOR THE TEAM AND INDIVIDUAL CHAMPIONSHIPS AI QUALIFIED TO TAKE PART IN THIS FIRST COMPETITION.
<del>10.4.</del>	STARTING ORDER
	THE STARTING ORDER IN THIS COMPETITION IS DRAWN IN THE PRESENCE OF THE GROUND JURY, FOREIC TECHNICAL DELEGATE AND CHEFS D'EQUIPE, AFTER THE TRAINING SESSION, AT A TIME FIXED BY THE PRESIDER OF THE GROUND JURY IN AGREEMENT WITH THE OC. THE DRAW FOR THE STARTING ORDER FOR INDIVIDUAL

FIRST A DRAW FOR THE INDIVIDUAL STARTING PLACES TAKES PLACE, FOLLOWED BY A DRAW TO DECIDE THE STARTING POSITION OF EACH TEAM. THE STARTING ORDER OF TEAM MEMBERS IS ESTABLISHED BY THE CHEFS D'EQUIPE. THE CHEFS D'EQUIPE OF THE TEAMS WITH ONLY THREE ATHLETES MAY CHOOSE IN WHICH OF THE THREE PLACES OUT OF FOUR THEY WILL START THEIR ATHLETES.

#### 10.5 PENALTIES

THE SCORE OBTAINED BY EACH ATHLETE IN THE FIRST COMPETITION WILL BE CONVERTED INTO PENALTIES ACCORDING TO THE FOLLOWING METHOD. EACH ATHLETE'S TIME WILL BE MULTIPLIED BY THE COEFFICIENT 0.50 AND CONVERTED INTO POINTS; THE POINTS MUST BE ROUNDED TO TWO DECIMAL PLACES. THE SECOND DECIMAL PLACE WILL BE ROUNDED UP FROM .005 AND ROUNDED DOWN FROM .004. THE ATHLETE WITH THE LOWEST NUMBER OF POINTS AFTER THIS CONVERSION WILL BE GIVEN ZERO PENALTIES, THE OTHER ATHLETES BEING CREDITED WITH THE NUMBER OF PENALTIES REPRESENTING THE DIFFERENCE IN POINTS BETWEEN EACH OF THEM AND THE LEADING ATHLETE.

IF AN ATHLETE IS ELIMINATED OR RETIRES, HE WILL BE PENALISED WITH 20 PENALTIES MORE THAN THE ATHLETE WHO HAS BEEN THE MOST SEVERELY PENALISED AFTER THE TIMES OF ALL ATHLETES WHO COMPLETED THE COMPETITION HAVE BEEN CONVERTED INTO PENALTIES.

#### FIRST REST DAY

11. TEAM COMPETITION (ALSO THE SECOND AND THIRD INDIVIDUAL QUALIFYING COMPETITIONS)

#### SECOND COMPETITION DAY

- 11.1. CONDUCT, TABLE AND SPEED
- THIS COMPETITION IS CONDUCTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE RULES FOR THE "NATIONS CUP" EXCEPT WHERE MODIFIED AS FOLLOWS:
- THIS COMPETITION TAKES PLACE OVER TWO ROUNDS (QUALIFYING ROUND AND FINAL ROUND) ON THE SAME DAY OVER THE SAME COURSE.
- IT IS JUDGED UNDER TABLE A NOT AGAINST THE CLOCK WITH A TIME ALLOWED AT A SPEED OF 375 M PER MINUTE.
- 11.2. OBSTACLES, LENGTH OF THE COURSE
- TWELVE TO 14 OBSTACLES, INCLUDING ONE DOUBLE AND ONE TREBLE OR THREE DOUBLES. HEIGHT 1.60 M MAXIMUM WITH A SPREAD IN PROPORTION NOT EXCEEDING 2.00 M (2.20 M FOR THE TRIPLE BAR). A MAXIMUM OF TWO SPREAD OBSTACLES WITH A WIDTH OF 1.00 M OR LESS MAY BE USED. AT LEAST TWO VERTICAL OBSTACLES MUST BE 1.60 M IN HEIGHT AND AT LEAST SIX OTHER OBSTACLES 1.40 M IN HEIGHT. SLOPING WALLS DO NOT COUNT AS COMPULSORY VERTICAL OBSTACLES. A WATER JUMP WITH A SPREAD OF 4.00 M (INCLUDING THE TAKE-OFF ELEMENT) MUST BE INCLUDED IN THE FIRST ROUND; THE WATER JUMP IS OPTIONAL IN THE SECOND ROUND.
- LENGTH: 500 M MINIMUM, 700 M MAXIMUM.

## 11.3. TEAM PLACING

THE TEAM CLASSIFICATION FOR THE TEN BEST TEAMS AND THOSE WITH EQUALITY OF PENALTIES FOR 10TH PLACE IS DECIDED BY ADDING THE PENALTIES INCURRED BY THE BEST THREE ATHLETES IN EACH TEAM IN THE FIRST COMPETITION AND THE PENALTIES INCURRED BY THE THREE BEST PLACED ATHLETES OF EACH TEAM IN ROUNDS 1 AND 2 (QUALIFYING ROUND AND FINAL ROUND) OF THE TEAM COMPETITION. TEAMS NOT QUALIFIED FOR ROUND 2 OF THE TEAM COMPETITION RECEIVE THEIR PLACING BY ADDING THE PENALTIES INCURRED BY THE THREE BEST ATHLETES IN EACH TEAM IN THE FIRST COMPETITION AND THE PENALTIES INCURRED BY THE THREE BEST ATHLETES IN EACH TEAM IN ROUND 1 OF THE TEAM COMPETITION.

## 11.4. JUMP OFF

- 11.4.1 IN THE CASE OF EQUALITY OF PENALTIES FOR 1ST, 2ND OR 3RD PLACE, THERE WILL BE A JUMP OFF AGAINST THE CLOCK, IN WHICH ALL TEAM ATHLETES MAY TAKE PART.
- IF MORE THAN ONE JUMP-OFF IS REQUIRED TO DECIDE MEDAL PLACING, THE JUMP-OFF FOR THE THIRD PLACE WILL TAKE PLACE BEFORE THE JUMP-OFF FOR THE FIRST AND THE SECOND PLACE.
- THE COURSE OF THE JUMP-OFF CONSISTS OF AT LEAST SIX OBSTACLES WHICH MAY BE INCREASED IN HEIGHT AND SPREAD, INCLUDING A COMBINATION IS RUN AT A SPEED OF 375 M PER MINUTE.

- THE SCORE IN THIS JUMP-OFF IS OBTAINED BY ADDING THE PENALTIES INCURRED BY THE THREE BEST ATHLETES IN EACH TEAM, BUT IN THE EVENT OF FURTHER EQUALITY OF PENALTIES, THE TIMES OF THESE THREE ATHLETES IN THE JUMP OFF ADDED TOGETHER WILL DECIDE THE WINNING TEAM AS WELL AS THOSE PLACED SECOND OR THIRD. THE SCORE OF THIS JUMP OFF IS ONLY TO DETERMINE THE PLACING OF THE TEAMS AND WILL NOT COUNT TOWARDS THE QUALIFICATION FOR THE FINAL INDIVIDUAL COMPETITION.
- 11.4.2 IN THE CASE OF EQUALITY OF PENALTIES FOR ANY OF THE OLYMPIC TEAM QUALIFICATION PLACES THERE WILL BE A JUMP OFF AGAINST THE CLOCK, IN WHICH ALL TEAM ATHLETES MAY TAKE PART, ACCORDING TO THE SAME PROVISIONS AS THE JUMP OFF FOR 1<sup>ST</sup>, 2<sup>ND</sup> OR 3<sup>RD</sup> PLACE (SEE ART. 11.4.1 ABOVE).

#### 11.5. ROUND 1 - TEAM COMPETITION

ROUND 1 (QUALIFYING ROUND) OF THE TEAM COMPETITION TAKES PLACE ON THE 2ND COMPETITION DAY AND COUNTS AS THE 2ND INDIVIDUAL QUALIFYING COMPETITION FOR THE INDIVIDUAL FINAL COMPETITION. ALL TEAMS START IN ROUND 1 (QUALIFYING ROUND).

## 11.5.1. PARTICIPATION

ROUND 1 (QUALIFYING ROUND) OF THE TEAM COMPETITION IS OPEN TO ALL TEAM ATHLETES AND HORSES WHICH HAVE TAKEN PART IN THE FIRST INDIVIDUAL QUALIFYING COMPETITION.

## 11.5.2. STARTING ORDER

### 11.5.2.1. INDIVIDUALS

FIRST TO START IN ROUND 1 (QUALIFYING ROUND) OF THE TEAM COMPETITION ARE ALL INDIVIDUALS. THE STARTING ORDER OF INDIVIDUAL ATHLETES IN ROUND 1 (QUALIFYING ROUND) OF THE TEAM COMPETITION IS ACCORDING TO THE REVERSE ORDER OF INDIVIDUAL CLASSIFICATION IN THE FIRST COMPETITION. IN CASE OF EQUALITY OF PENALTIES FOR ANY PLACE ATHLETES RETAIN THE SAME STARTING PLACE AS IN THE FIRST COMPETITION.

#### 11.5.2.2. TEAMS

- THE STARTING ORDER IN ROUND 1 (QUALIFYING ROUND) OF THE TEAM COMPETITION IS ACCORDING TO THE REVERSE ORDER OF TEAM CLASSIFICATION IN THE FIRST COMPETITION. THE STARTING ORDER OF TEAM MEMBERS IS ESTABLISHED BY THE CHEFS D'EQUIPE. IN CASE OF EQUALITY OF PENALTIES FOR ANY PLACE TEAMS RETAIN THE SAME STARTING PLACE AS IN THE FIRST COMPETITION.
- THE CHEFS D'EQUIPE OF TEAMS WITH ONLY THREE ATHLETES MAY CHOOSE IN WHICH THREE PLACES OUT OF FOUR THEY START THEIR ATHLETES.

## 11.6. ROUND 2 - TEAM COMPETITION

## 11.6.1. PARTICIPATION

## 11.6.1.1. INDIVIDUALS

ALL INDIVIDUALS AND TEAM MEMBERS WHOSE TEAMS ARE NOT QUALIFIED FOR ROUND 2 OF THE TEAM COMPETITION TAKE PART IN ROUND 2 OF THE TEAM COMPETITION PROVIDING THAT THEY HAVE NOT RETIRED OR ARE ELIMINATED IN ROUND 1.

## 11.6.1.2. TEAMS

- 11.6.1.2.1. ROUND 2 (FINAL ROUND) OF THE TEAM COMPETITION TAKES PLACE ON THE SAME DAY AS ROUND 1 AND IS OPEN ONLY TO THE TEN BEST PLACED TEAMS AND THOSE TEAMS EQUAL ON PENALTIES FOR TENTH PLACE FOLLOWING ROUND 1 (QUALIFYING ROUND) OF THE TEAM COMPETITION.
- 11.6.1.2.2. ALL TEAMS ALLOWED TO COMPETE IN ROUND 2 (FINAL ROUND) OF THE TEAM COMPETITION CARRY THEIR PENALTIES FORWARD FROM THE FIRST COMPETITION AND ROUND 1 (QUALIFYING ROUND) OF THE TEAM COMPETITION.

## 11.6.2. STARTING ORDER - ROUND 2 TEAM COMPETITION

## 11.6.2.1. INDIVIDUALS

RULES FOR	JUMPING CHAMPIONSHIPS AND GAMES Annex I – Pan-Am Games
26 <sup>th</sup> -edition	, effective 1 January 2018, updates effective 1 January 2019
	TARTING ORDER OF THE INDIVIDUALS AND TEAM MEMBERS WHOSE TEAMS ARE NOT QUALIFIED FOR ROUND
	SET ACCORDING TO THE REVERSE ORDER OF THE AGGREGATE PENALTIES INCURRED IN THE FIRST AND THE
	ND INDIVIDUAL QUALIFYING COMPETITIONS. IN CASE OF A TIE ON PENALTIES ATHLETES RETAIN THE SAME TING ORDER AS IN THE SECOND INDIVIDUAL QUALIFYING COMPETITION (ROUND 1 OF THE TEAM
	ETITION).
11.6.2.2.	<del>TEAMS</del>
	CTARTING ORDER OF THE TEAMS QUALIFIED TO COMPETE AS MENTIONED HEREINABOVE UNDER SECTION
	1.2 IS SET ACCORDING TO THE REVERSE ORDER OF PENALTIES INCURRED IN THE FIRST COMPETITION AND
	OUND 1 (QUALIFYING ROUND) OF THE TEAM COMPETITION. TEAMS WITH EQUALITY OF THE PENALTIES IN THE STARTING ORDER OF ROUND 1 (QUALIFYING ROUND).
ONE REST DAY	4
TUES COMPE	
THIRD COMPE	HHON DAY
12. FINAL	- INDIVIDUAL COMPETITION
12.1 COND	WCT, TABLE AND SPEED
12.1. CONB	OCT, TABLE AND SPEED
THIS	COMPETITION IS CONDUCTED OVER TWO ROUNDS (A) AND (B) EACH JUDGED UNDER TABLE A AGAINST
THE (	CLOCK WITH A JUMP-OFF, WITH A TIME ALLOWED AT A SPEED OF 375 M PER MINUTE (JRS ART. 273.3.4.1
AND /	<del>NRT. 273.4.4).</del>
12.2. OBST	ACLES, LENGTH OF THE COURSE
12.2.1. ROUN	<del>D A</del>
TEN T	O 12 OBSTACLES INCLUDING ONE DOUBLE AND ONE TREBLE OR THREE DOUBLES. MAXIMUM HEIGHT 1.60M
	A SPREAD IN PROPORTION TO THE HEIGHT NOT EXCEEDING 2.00 M (2.20 M FOR THE TRIPLE BAR). A
	MUM OF TWO SPREAD OBSTACLES WITH A WIDTH OF 1.00 M OR LESS MAY BE USED. THERE MUST BE TWO
<del>VERTI</del>	ICAL OBSTACLES OF 1.60M. SLOPING WALLS DO NOT COUNT AS COMPULSORY VERTICAL OBSTACLES. IF
	VATER JUMP IS USED (REFER TO PARAGRAPH 9.2.2), IT MUST HAVE A SPREAD OF 4.00 M INCLUDING THE
<del>TAKE</del> -	<del>- OFF ELEMENT.</del>
LENG	TH: 500 M MINIMUM, 600 M MAXIMUM.
12.2.2. ROUN	<del>D-B</del>
	D B IS OVER A DIFFERENT COURSE OF EIGHT TO TEN OBSTACLES INCLUDING A DOUBLE OR A TREBLE
	MINATION. HEIGHT MAXIMUM 1.60 M WITH THEIR SPREAD PROPORTIONATE TO THEIR HEIGHT BUT NOT
	EDING 2.00 M (2.20 M FOR THE TRIPLE BAR). A MAXIMUM OF TWO SPREAD OBSTACLES WITH A WIDTH OF
	M OR LESS MAY BE USED. THERE MUST BE TWO VERTICAL OBSTACLES 1.60 M IN HEIGHT. SLOPING WALLS
<del>DO N</del>	OT COUNT AS COMPULSORY VERTICAL OBSTACLES.
A WA	TER JUMP MAY NOT BE INCLUDED, BUT AN OBSTACLE WITH WATER BENEATH, IN FRONT OR BEHIND (A SO-
	ED "LIVERPOOL') MAY BE INCLUDED IN THE COURSE.
<del>LENG</del>	TH: 400 M MINIMUM, 500 M MAXIMUM.
12.2.3. JUMP-	<del>OFF</del>
THE J	UMP-OFF IS OVER A SHORTENED COURSE OF AT LEAST SIX OBSTACLES TAKEN FROM BOTH ROUNDS.
12.3. PARTI	CIPATION

## 12.3.1. ROUND A

ROUND A OF THIS COMPETITION IS COMPULSORY FOR THE 35 BEST PLACED ATHLETES AND HORSES (INCLUDING THOSE WITH EQUALITY OF PENALTIES FOR 35TH PLACE) ACCORDING TO THE CUMULATIVE PENALTIES OVER THE FIRST AND SECOND COMPETITION. FOR INDIVIDUALS AND MEMBERS OF TEAMS NOT QUALIFIED FOR THE SECOND ROUND OF THE TEAM COMPETITION THEIR SCORE IN THE SECOND ROUND QUALIFIER WILL COUNT.

PARTICIPANTS MUST HAVE TAKEN PART IN THE FIRST QUALIFYING COMPETITION (COMPLETED OR NOT) AND HAVE COMPLETED BOTH ROUNDS OF THE TEAM COMPETITION (WITHOUT HAVING BEEN ELIMINATED OR HAVING RETIRED).

RULES	FOR JUMPING CHAMPIONSHIPS AND GAMES	Annex I	- Pan-Am Games
	dition, effective 1 January 2018, updates effective 1 January 2019		
	IF FOR ANY REASON ONE OR MORE OF THESE 35 BEST PLACED ATHLETES AF REPLACED BY PARTICIPANTS FROM THE RESERVE LIST OF ATHLETES.	RE UNABLE <sup>-</sup>	FO START, THEY ARE
	NOT MORE THAN THREE ATHLETES FROM ANY ONE NATION MAY TAKE PART IN THE ATHLETES FROM ONE NATION ARE WITHIN THE TOP 35 ATHLETES, THE THREE BINATION(S) IN QUESTION WILL PARTICIPATE IN THE INDIVIDUAL FINAL. IF TWO THE CHEF D'EQUIPE DECIDES OF THE TWO ATHLETES WILL PARTICIPATE IN THE ATHLETE CANNOT BE ADDED TO THE RESERVE LIST.	EST PLACED ATHLETES	ATHLETES FROM THE TIE FOR THIRD PLACE
	PARTICIPANTS START IN ROUND A OF THE INDIVIDUAL FINAL COMPETITION WI	TH ZERO PE	NALTIES.
12.3.2.	ROUND B		
	ROUND B OF THIS COMPETITION IS OPEN TO THE 20 BEST PLACED ATHLETES FR WITH EQUALITY OF PENALTIES FOR 20TH PLACE.	OM ROUND	A <del>, INCLUDING THOSE</del>
<del>12.3.3.</del>	INSPECTING THE COURSE B		
	ATHLETES WILL BE INVITED TO INSPECT THE COURSE FOR ROUND B AT THE CO	NCLUSION (	<del>OF ROUND A.</del>
<del>12.4.</del>	STARTING ORDER		
<del>12.4.1.</del>	<del>-ROUND A</del>		
	THE STARTING ORDER FOR ROUND A FOLLOWS THE REVERSE ORDER OF PEN/SECOND AND THIRD QUALIFYING COMPETITIONS OF THE GAMES. IN THE EVE THE SAME STARTING ORDER AS IN THE SECOND ROUND OF THE TEAM CO QUALIFYING COMPETITION) IS USED TO DECIDE THE ORDER OF GO FOR THOSE PARTICIPANT WILL, THEREFORE, START AS NUMBER ONE.	NT OF EQUA	ALITY OF PENALTIES, (THIRD INDIVIDUAL
<del>12.4.2.</del>	<del>ROUND B</del>		
	THE STARTING ORDER FOR ROUND B FOLLOWS THE REVERSE ORDER OF THE PE	NALTIES AN	D TIME INCURRED IN
	ROUND A. THE ATHLETE WITH THE MOST PENALTIES AND SLOWEST TIME START LEAST PENALTIES AND FASTEST TIME STARTS LAST. ATHLETES WITH EQUALITY THE SAME STARTING ORDER AS IN ROUND A.		
<del>12.4.3.</del>	JUMP-OFF		
	ATHLETES TIED ON PENALTIES ONLY FOR A MEDAL PLACING SHALL COMPETE ORDER IN THE JUMP OFF IS ACCORDING TO THE SAME ORDER AS ROUND B.	IN A JUMP	OFF. THE STARTING
_	IF MORE THAN ONE JUMP OFF IS REQUIRED TO DECIDE MEDAL PLACING, THE TAKES PLACE BEFORE THE JUMP OFF FOR THE FIRST AND THE SECOND PLACE.	JUMP OFF FO	OR THE THIRD PLACE
	IN CASE OF EQUALITY OF PENALTIES AND TIME FOR ANY OF THE MEDAL PLACED THERE IS A SECOND JUMP OFF OVER THE SAME COURSE. IN CASE OF EQUALITY THE SECOND JUMP OFF, THE ATHLETES CONCERNED ARE PLACED EQUAL.		
12.5.	INDIVIDUAL PLACING		
	THE CLASSIFICATION WILL BE ESTABLISHED ACCORDING TO THE PENALTIES AI	ND TIME IN	THE JUMP-OFF.
	CLASSIFICATION OF ATHLETES NOT TAKING PART IN THE JUMP-OFF WILL PENALTIES OVER BOTH ROUNDS AND THE TIME INCURRED IN ROUND B.	BE ACCORD	ING TO AGGREGATE
	CLASSIFICATION OF ATHLETES NOT TAKING PART IN ROUND B WILL BE ACCORD ROUND A.	OING TO PE	NALTIES AND TIME IN
	IN CASE OF A TIE ON PENALTIES AND TIME FOR OLYMPIC INDIVIDUAL QUOTLINED IN ARTICLE 14 APPLIES.	<del>JALIFICATIC</del>	N, THE PROCEDURE
<del>13.</del>	PAN AMERICAN GAMES MEDALS		
	GOLD, SILVER AND BRONZE MEDALS WILL BE AWARDED TO EACH MEMBER OF IN THE TEAM FINAL AND TO THE INDIVIDUALS PLACED FIRST, SECOND AND TO COMPETITION.		

	Doclaccification				
AT.	reciassification,	rcastroador	OI FICUAIS AIVE	7 0 0 1 1	

IF AN ATHLETE/HORSE IS DISQUALIFIED DUE TO A VIOLATION OF THE HUMAN ANTI-DOPING RULES AND/OR THE EADCMR, THE RESULTS SHALL BE RECLASSIFIED AND, IF APPLICABLE, THE MEDALS WILL BE RE AWARDED. THE FOLLOWING PROCEDURE APPLIES IN THE EVENT THAT TWO OR MORE TEAMS, RESPECTIVELY TWO OR MORE ATHLETES/HORSES, ARE TIED:

#### 14.1 TEAMS:

THE TIE IS BROKEN BY TAKING THE BEST TEAM SCORE (PENALTIES AND TIME OF THE THREE BEST TEAM ATHLETES) IN THE SECOND ROUND OF THE TEAM COMPETITION. IN CASE OF A FURTHER TIE, THE TIE IS BROKEN BY TAKING THE BEST THREE ATHLETES SCORES IN THE FIRST INDIVIDUAL QUALIFYING COMPETITION.

FOR THE AVOIDANCE OF ANY DOUBT, ARTICLE 11.4.2 ONLY APPLIES DURING THE EVENT.

#### 14.2 INDIVIDUALS:

- 14.2.1. BEST RESULT (PENALTIES AND TIME) IN ROUND B OF THE INDIVIDUAL FINAL COMPETITION. IN CASE OF A FURTHER TIE THE FOLLOWING APPLIES:
- 14.2.2. THE COMBINED RESULT OF THE FIRST QUALIFYING COMPETITION PLUS THE SECOND QUALIFYING COMPETITION PLUS THE THIRD QUALIFYING COMPETITION. IN CASE OF A FURTHER TIE THE FOLLOWING APPLIES:
- 14.2.3. THE COMBINED RESULT OF THE SECOND QUALIFYING COMPETITION PLUS THE THIRD QUALIFYING COMPETITION.
  IN CASE OF A FURTHER TIE THE FOLLOWING APPLIES:
- 14.2.4. THE BEST RESULT OF THE FIRST QUALIFYING COMPETITION. IN CASE OF A FURTHER TIE THE ATHLETES IN QUESTION ARE PLACED EQUAL AND RECEIVE MEDALS (IF APPLICABLE). IN CASE OF A FURTHER TIE THE FOLLOWING APPLIES:
- 14.2.5. THE BEST RANKED ATHLETE IN THE LONGINES RANKINGS PUBLISHED THE MONTH PRIOR TO THE JUMPING COMPETITION AT THE PAN AMERICAN CAMES.
- 15. Breaking of Ties for Olympic Qualification Places
- IF AN NOC THAT HAS EARNED AN OLYMPIC QUALIFICATION PLACE FOR A TEAM OR INDIVIDUAL(S) THROUGH THE PAN-AMERICAN GAMES BECOMES NO LONGER ELIGIBLE OR DOES NOT USE ITS QUALIFICATION PLACE(S) FOR ANY REASON, THE METHOD DESCRIBED IN ART. 14 WILL APPLY IN CASE OF A TIE AMONG THE NEXT BEST PLACED TEAMS/ATHLETES ON THE FINAL TEAM/INDIVIDUAL CLASSIFICATION OF THE PAN-AMERICAN GAMES TO FILL THE VACANT OUOTA PLACE(S).
- 16. QUALIFICATION PROCEDURE FOR THE PAN AMERICAN GAMES
- THE QUALIFICATION PROCEDURE FOR THE PAN-AMERICAN GAMES MUST BE APPROVED BY THE FEI JUMPING COMMITTEE AND THE FEI BOARD AND WILL BE PUBLISHED ON THE FEI WEBSITE; ANY MODIFICATIONS TO THE APPROVED QUALIFICATION PROCEDURE MUST BE PRESENTED TO THE FEI JUMPING COMMITTEE AND THE FEI BOARD FOR APPROVAL.

## RULES FOR THE CENTRAL AMERICAN AND CARIBBEAN GAMES

- **ORGANISATION**
- 1.1. EVERY FOUR YEARS, THE YEAR BEFORE THE PAN AMERICAN GAMES, THE CENTRAL AMERICAN AND CARIBBEAN GAMES MAY BE ORGANISED UNDER THE AUTHORITY OF THE FEI ACCORDING TO THE FOLLOWING PRINCIPLES:
- 1.1.1. THE HOST NATION WILL BE DESIGNATED BY ODECABE.
- 1.1.2. THESE GAMES MUST BE ORGANISED IN FULL AGREEMENT WITH THE GRS, THE JRS AND THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS.
- 1.1.3 IN THE WEEK PRECEDING AND DURING THESE GAMES IT IS FORBIDDEN TO HOST A CSI4\* OR CSI5\* OR CSIO5\* IN THE SAME REGION AS THE GAMES.
- 1.1.4. THESE GAMES MUST BE HELD OUT-DOORS.
- GROUND JURY, FOREIGN TECHNICAL DELEGATE AND COURSE DESIGNER
- THE PRESIDENT OF THE GROUND JURY MUST BE APPOINTED BY THE FEI JUMPING DIRECTOR IN CONSULTATION WITH THE JUMPING COMMITTEE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROVISIONS OF THE GRS. HE MUST REACH AGREEMENT WITH THE OC AND WITH THE FEI WITH REGARD TO THE APPOINTMENT OF THE MEMBERS OF THE **GROUND JURY.**
- THE PRESIDENT OF THE GROUND JURY AND FOREIGN JUDGE MUST BE CHOSEN FROM THE LIST OF LEVEL 3 JUDGES AND THE MEMBERS OF THE GROUND JURY FROM THE LIST OF LEVEL 2 OR LEVEL 3 JUDGES. THE PRESIDENT OF THE GROUND JURY MAY ALSO ACT AS THE FOREIGN JUDGE.
- THE FOREIGN TECHNICAL DELEGATE MUST BE APPOINTED BY THE FEI JUMPING DIRECTOR IN CONSULTATION WITH THE JUMPING COMMITTEE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROVISIONS OF THE GRS. HE MUST BE SELECTED FROM THE LIST OF LEVEL 4 COURSE DESIGNERS.
- 2.3. THE COURSE DESIGNER MUST BE CHOSEN FROM THE LIST OF LEVEL 3 COURSE DESIGNERS.
- APPEAL COMMITTEE AND VETERINARY COMMISSION
- THE PRESIDENT AND THE MEMBERS OF THE APPEAL COMMITTEE MUST BE APPOINTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROVISIONS SET FORTH IN THE GRS.
- THE PRESIDENT AND THE ASSOCIATE MEMBER OF THE VETERINARY COMMISSION SHALL BE APPOINTED BY THE HOST NF OR THE OC IN AGREEMENT WITH THE FEI VETERINARY COMMITTEE. THE FEI VETERINARY COMMITTEE SHALL APPOINT THE FOREIGN VETERINARY DELEGATE AND ALL MUST BE SELECTED FROM THE FEI LIST OF EVENT **VETERINARIANS.**
- ENTRIES
- AFTER APPROVAL OF THE SCHEDULE BY FEI JUMPING DIRECTOR, THE INVITATIONS FOR THESE GAMES TOGETHER WITH THE SCHEDULE, ARE SENT BY THE HOST NF/OC TO ALL NFS AFFILIATED TO THE FEI, THAT ARE ALLOWED TO TAKE PART IN THE GAMES.
- ATHLETES AND HORSES ENTERED ON THE LIST OF NOMINATED ENTRIES (FOUR WEEKS BEFORE THE GAMES) CAN BE REPLACED AND ADDITIONS CAN BE MADE WITHIN THE LIMITS SPECIFIED IN GRS ART. 116.2.3(I) UNTIL THE DATE OF DEFINITE ENTRIES (AT THE LATEST FOUR DAYS BEFORE THE START OF THE GAMES).
- IN THE EVENT OF AN ACCIDENT OR ILLNESS OF AN ATHLETE AND/OR HORSE, SUBSTANTIATED BY A CERTIFICATE FROM AN OFFICIAL RECOGNISED DOCTOR AND/OR VETERINARIAN, BETWEEN THE DATE OF DEFINITE ENTRIES AND ONE HOUR BEFORE THE FIRST HORSE INSPECTION OF THE GAMES, SUBSTITUTIONS OF ATHLETES AND/OR HORSES CAN BE MADE, SUCH SUBSTITUTIONS MUST BE TAKEN FROM THE UPDATED LIST OF NOMINATED ENTRIES AND REQUIRE GROUND JURY APPROVAL.

## 4 3 TEAMS

A TEAM COMPRISES AT LEAST THREE ATHLETES AND THREE HORSES AND AT MOST FIVE ATHLETES AND FIVE HORSES. EACH QUALIFIED NF MAY ENTER A MAXIMUM OF 10 ATHLETES AND 10 HORSES WITH ITS NOMINATED ENTRIES AND A MAXIMUM OF FIVE ATHLETES AND FIVE HORSES WITH ITS DEFINITE ENTRIES; HOWEVER, EACH NF MAY ONLY SEND A MAXIMUM OF FIVE ATHLETES, OF WHOM FOUR MAY PARTICIPATE IN THE GAMES. EACH NF MAY IN ADDITION SEND A CHEF D'EQUIPE TO WHOM WILL BE ACCORDED THE SAME PRIVILEGES AS THE ATHLETES.

- 4.4. INDIVIDUALS INSTEAD OF A TEAM
- AN NF, WHICH CANNOT SEND A FULL TEAM, MAY ENTER ONE OR TWO INDIVIDUAL ATHLETES WITH ONE HORSE FACH.
- DECLARATION AND SUBSTITUTION OF STARTERS (TEAMS AND INDIVIDUALS)
- 5.1. DECLARATION

THE DECLARATION OF STARTERS WILL TAKE PLACE AFTER THE TRAINING SESSION, WHICH MUST BE PROVIDED ON THE DAY PRECEDING THE FIRST COMPETITION OF THE GAMES (PARAGRAPH 8). AT A TIME FIXED BY THE OC, THE CHEFS D'EQUIPE WILL DESIGNATE IN WRITING THE MEMBERS OF THEIR TEAM (THREE OR FOUR) OR THEIR INDIVIDUAL ATHLETES AND THE NAMES OF THEIR HORSES (A SINGLE AND SAME HORSE FOR EACH ATHLETE FOR THE THREE COMPETITIONS OF THE GAMES) AS STARTERS IN THE COMPETITIONS OF THE GAMES.

#### 5.2. SUBSTITUTION

IN THE EVENT OF AN ACCIDENT OR ILLNESS OF AN ATHLETE AND/OR HORSE BETWEEN THE SUBMISSION OF DECLARATIONS AND ONE HOUR BEFORE THE START OF THE FIRST GAMES COMPETITION, THE ATHLETE AND/OR THE HORSE MAY, ON PRODUCTION OF A CERTIFICATE FROM AN OFFICIALLY RECOGNISED DOCTOR AND/OR WITH THE PERMISSION OF THE VETERINARY COMMISSION AND AFTER APPROVAL OF THE PRESIDENT OF THE GROUND JURY AND THE APPEAL COMMITTEE, BE REPLACED BY ANOTHER ATHLETE AND/OR HORSE FORMALLY ENTERED WITH THE DEFINITE ENTRIES OR SUBSTITUTED ACCORDING TO PARAGRAPH 4.2.

- 6. QUALIFICATIONS
- 6.1 HORSES
- THE HORSES MUST BE EIGHT YEARS OLD OR MORE.
- 6.2. ATHLETES
- THE GAMES ARE CONFINED TO ATHLETES FROM THE YEAR IN WHICH THEY REACH THEIR 16TH BIRTHDAY.
- 6.3. CERTIFICATES OF CAPABILITY
- ONLY THOSE ATHLETES AND HORSES LIKELY TO BE ABLE TO COMPLETE THE GAMES MAY BE ENTERED. NFS MUST SEND TO THE FEI A CERTIFICATE OF CAPABILITY TO THIS EFFECT (SEE GRS). ATHLETES AND HORSES ARE NOT REQUIRED TO QUALIFY AS COMBINATIONS.
- THIS CERTIFICATE OF CAPABILITY MUST INCLUDE A RECORD OF THE RESULTS OBTAINED IN COMPETITIONS SATISFYING THE REQUIREMENTS AS LAID DOWN IN THE QUALIFICATION PROCEDURE ATTACHED TO THE PRESENT RULES:
- UPON ARRIVAL AT THE GAMES, CHEFS D'EQUIPE CAN EXCHANGE ATHLETES AND HORSES AT WILL, WHETHER ORIGINALLY QUALIFIED AS COMBINATIONS OR NOT. AFTER THE FIRST COMPETITION, NO FURTHER CHANGES ARE PERMITTED.
- 7. EXPENSES AND PRIVILEGES
- 7.1. THE OC IS RESPONSIBLE FOR MEETING EXPENSES OF OFFICIALS AS WELL AS THE ATHLETES AND THEIR HORSES AS COVERED IN THE CENTRAL AMERICAN AND CARIBBEAN GAMES REGULATIONS BY ODECABE.
- 8. TRAINING SESSION
- 8.1. THE DAY PRIOR TO THE FIRST OFFICIAL COMPETITION, THE OC MUST PROVIDE A TRAINING PERIOD IN THE MAIN ARENA WITH A COURSE CONSISTING OF APPROXIMATELY EIGHT OBSTACLES INCLUDING A COMBINATION.
- 8.2. EACH ATHLETE IS PERMITTED A MAXIMUM OF 90 SECONDS PER HORSE.
- 8.3. DRESS IS INFORMAL; BOOTS, BREECHES, SHIRT AND PROTECTIVE HEADGEAR MUST BE WORN.
- 8.4. THE PUBLIC MAY NOT BE CHARGED TO ENTER AND PRIZES OF ANY KIND MAY NOT BE OFFERED.
- 8.5. OBSTACLES:
- HEIGHT 1.25 M, WIDTH 1.40 M, TRIPLE BAR 1.70M, WATER JUMP MAXIMUM 3.50 M.

### COMPETITIONS

- THE GAMES COMPRISES THREE COMPETITIONS, EACH TAKING PLACE ON A DIFFERENT DAY. THE TOTAL PENALTIES INCURRED BY THE THREE BEST PLACED ATHLETES OF EACH NATION IN THE FIRST COMPETITION AND IN EACH ROUND OF THE SECOND COMPETITION COUNT TOWARDS THE TEAM PLACING AND THE TOTAL PENALTIES INCURRED IN EACH OF THE FIRST THREE COMPETITIONS COUNT TOWARDS THE INDIVIDUAL PLACING.
- THE DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION OF ALL OBSTACLES WITH REGARD TO SAFETY AND TECHNICAL SUITABILITY MUST BE APPROVED BY THE TECHNICAL DELEGATE AND COURSE DESIGNER. SHOULD A DISPUTE ARISE RELATING TO THESE OBSTACLES, THE TECHNICAL DELEGATE HAS THE FINAL DECISION.
- THE WATER JUMP MUST BE USED THREE TIMES IN THE GAMES. IT IS COMPULSORY IN THE FIRST ROUND OF THE TEAM COMPETITION. THE COURSE DESIGNER WILL, AT HIS DISCRETION, DECIDE IN WHICH OTHER COMPETITIONS THE WATER JUMP WILL BE USED.
- A SPONSORED OBSTACLE IS DEFINED AS ONE WHERE THERE IS ADVERTISING MATERIAL OR A SPONSOR'S PRODUCT OR REPRESENTATION OF A PRODUCT INSIDE THE FLAGS. IF ADVERTISING OR A PRODUCT ON THE OBSTACLE WINGS IS MORE THAN 0.50 M2 THE OBSTACLE IS ALSO CONSIDERED TO BE A SPONSORED OBSTACLE. IF THE WINGS OF AN OBSTACLE HAVE ADVERTISING OF 0.50 M2 OR LESS, THE OBSTACLE IS NOT CONSIDERED A SPONSORED OBSTACLE. NO MORE THAN 30% OF THE EFFORTS ROUNDED UP TO THE NEXT WHOLE NUMBER MAY BE SPONSORED OBSTACLES...
- FIRST COMPETITION (TEAMS AND INDIVIDUALS)
- CONDUCT, TABLE, SPEED
- THIS FIRST COMPETITION IS CONDUCTED OVER A BIG TABLE A COURSE AND JUDGED UNDER TABLE C (JRS ART. 239 AND 263) WITHOUT A JUMP OFF IN THE EVENT OF EQUALITY FOR FIRST PLACE.
- 10.2. OBSTACLES, LENGTH OF THE COURSE
- TWELVE TO FOURTEEN OBSTACLES, INCLUDING ONE DOUBLE AND ONE TREBLE OR THREE DOUBLES. HEIGHT 1.30 M MAXIMUM, A SPREAD IN PROPORTION NOT EXCEEDING 1.60 M (1.80 M FOR THE TRIPLE BAR). A MAXIMUM OF TWO SPREAD OBSTACLES WITH A WIDTH OF ONE METER OR LESS MAY BE USED. WATER JUMP, IF USED (REFER TO PARAGRAPH 9.3): FOUR METERS MAXIMUM, INCLUDING THE TAKE-OFF ELEMENT.
- LENGTH: 500 M MINIMUM, 600 M MAXIMUM.
- 10.3 PARTICIPATION
- THE ATHLETES AND HORSES DECLARED AS STARTERS FOR THE TEAM AND INDIVIDUAL ARE QUALIFIED TO TAKE PART IN THIS FIRST COMPETITION.
- 10 / STAPTING OPDED
  - THE STARTING ORDER IN THIS FIRST COMPETITION IS DRAWN IN THE PRESENCE OF THE GROUND JURY. THE FOREIGN TECHNICAL DELEGATE AND THE CHEFS D'EOUIPE, AT A TIME FIXED BY THE PRESIDENT OF THE GROUND JURY IN AGREEMENT WITH THE OC AFTER THE TRAINING SESSION. THE DRAW FOR THE STARTING ORDER FOR INDIVIDUALS AND TEAMS WILL BE CONDUCTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROCEDURE LAID DOWN IN JRS ART. 252. THE CHEFS D'EQUIPE OF THE TEAMS WITH ONLY THREE ATHLETES MAY CHOOSE IN WHICH OF THE THREE PLACES OUT OF FOUR THEY WILL START THEIR ATHLETES.
- 10.5 PENALTIES
- THE SCORES OBTAINED BY EACH ATHLETE IN THE FIRST COMPETITION WILL BE CONVERTED INTO PENALTIES ACCORDING TO THE FOLLOWING METHOD. EACH ATHLETE'S TIME WILL BE MULTIPLIED BY THE COEFFICIENT 0.50 AND CONVERTED INTO POINTS; THE POINTS MUST BE ROUNDED UP OR DOWN TO THE SECOND DECIMAL PLACE. THE SECOND DECIMAL PLACE WILL BE ROUNDED UP FROM .005 AND ROUNDED DOWN FROM .004.
- THE ATHLETE WITH THE LOWEST NUMBER OF POINTS AFTER THIS CONVERSION WILL BE GIVEN ZERO PENALTIES, THE OTHER ATHLETES BEING CREDITED WITH THE NUMBER OF PENALTIES REPRESENTING THE DIFFERENCE IN POINTS BETWEEN EACH OF THEM AND THE LEADING ATHLETE.
- IF AN ATHLETE IS ELIMINATED OR RETIRES. HE WILL BE PENALISED WITH 20 PENALTIES MORE THAN THE ATHLETE WHO HAS BEEN THE MOST SEVERELY PENALISED AFTER THE TIMES OF ALL ATHLETES WHO COMPLETED THE **COMPETITION HAVE BEEN CONVERTED INTO PENALTIES.**
- 10.6. INDIVIDUAL PLACING FIRST COMPETITION

THE ATHLETE WITH THE FASTEST TIME, INCLUDING PENALTIES CONVERTED INTO SECONDS, IS PLACED FIRST; THE ATHLETE WITH THE SECOND FASTEST TIME IS PLACED SECOND AND SO ON.10.7. PRIZES MEDALS WILL BE AWARDED TO INDIVIDUALS: GOLD FOR THE FIRST PLACE, SILVER FOR THE SECOND PLACE AND BRONZE FOR THE THIRD PLACE. RIBBONS WILL BE AWARDED FOR THE FIRST SIX COMBINATIONS. SIX COMBINATIONS ARE INVITED TO THE PRIZE **GIVING CEREMONY MOUNTED.** SECOND COMPETITION (TEAM FINAL COMPETITION, SECOND INDIVIDUAL) 11.1. CONDUCT, TABLE, SPEED THIS SECOND COMPETITION IS CONDUCTED OVER TWO ROUNDS, RUN ON THE SAME DAY UNDER TABLE A NOT AGAINST THE CLOCK AND WITHOUT A JUMP-OFF AT A SPEED OF 350 M PER MINUTE. 11.2. OBSTACLES, LENGTH OF THE COURSES TWELVE TO FOURTEEN OBSTACLES, INCLUDING ONE DOUBLE AND ONE TREBLE OR THREE DOUBLES. HEIGHT 1.35 M MAXIMUM WITH A SPREAD IN PROPORTION NOT EXCEEDING 1.60 M (1.80 M FOR THE TRIPLE BAR). A MAXIMUM OF TWO SPREAD OBSTACLES WITH A WIDTH OF 1.00 M OR LESS MAY BE USED. WATER JUMP (COMPULSORY IN THE FIRST ROUND OF THE TEAM COMPETITION, OPTIONAL IN THE SECOND ROUND): 4.00 M MAXIMUM (INCLUDING THE TAKE-OFF). LENGTH: 500 M MINIMUM, 700 M MAXIMUM. 11.3. PARTICIPATION ROUND 1 ONLY THE ATHLETES AND HORSES, WHICH HAVE TAKEN PART IN THE FIRST COMPETITION, MAY TAKE PART IN ROUND 1 OF THE SECOND COMPETITION. 11 3 1 PARTICIPATION ROUND 2 11 2 1 1 TNDIVIDUALS ALL ATHLETES IF NOT ELIMINATED OR RETIRING IN ROUND 1 ARE ALLOWED TO PARTICIPATE IN THE THIRD INDIVIDUAL QUALIFICATION COMPETITION WHICH IS THE ROUND 2 OF THE TEAM COMPETITION. 11.3.2. TEAMS ROUND 2 OF THE TEAM COMPETITION TAKES PLACE AFTER THE INDIVIDUALS HAVE PARTICIPATED. 11.3.2.1. ALL TEAMS IF NOT ELIMINATED OR RETIRING IN ROUND 1 ARE ALLOWED TO COMPETE IN ROUND 2 OF THE TEAM COMPETITION AND CARRY THEIR PENALTIES FORWARD FROM THE FIRST INDIVIDUAL QUALIFYING COMPETITION AND ROUND 1 OF THE TEAM COMPETITION. 11.4. STARTING ORDER INDIVIDUALS AND TEAMS - ROUND 1: THE STARTING ORDER FOR ROUND 1 IS DRAWN IN THE PRESENCE OF THE GROUND JURY, THE FOREIGN TECHNICAL DELEGATE AND THE CHEFS D'EQUIPE, AT A TIME FIXED BY THE PRESIDENT OF THE GROUND JURY IN AGREEMENT WITH THE OC AFTER THE TRAINING SESSION. THE DRAW FOR THE STARTING ORDER FOR INDIVIDUALS AND TEAMS WILL BE CONDUCTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROCEDURE LAID DOWN IN JRS ART. 252. THE CHEFS D'EQUIPE OF TEAMS WITH ONLY THREE ATHLETES MAY CHOOSE IN WHICH OF THE THREE PLACES OUT OF FOUR THEY WILL START THEIR ATHLETES. 11.4.1. INDIVIDUALS - ROUND 2

11.4.1.1. FIRST TO START IN ROUND 2 OF THE TEAM FINAL COMPETITION ARE ALL INDIVIDUALS. THE STARTING ORDER OF THE INDIVIDUALS QUALIFIED TO COMPETE AS MENTIONED HEREIN ABOVE UNDER SECTION 11.3.1.1 IS SET ACCORDING TO THE REVERSE ORDER OF THE AGGREGATE PENALTIES INCURRED IN THE FIRST AND THE SECOND INDIVIDUAL QUALIFYING COMPETITIONS. IN CASE OF ATHLETES WITH EQUALITY OF PENALTIES, THE SCORE OF THE FIRST COMPETITION WILL DECIDE THEIR STARTING ORDER.

## 11.4.2. TEAMS ROUND 2

11.4.2.	1. THE STARTING ORDER OF TEAMS IN ROUND 2 IS SET ACCORDING TO THE REVERSE ORDER OF TOTAL PENALTIES OF THE BEST THREE ATHLETES PER TEAM INCURRED IN THE FIRST INDIVIDUAL QUALIFYING
	COMPETITION AND OF THE BEST THREE ATHLETES PER TEAM IN THE ROUND 1 OF THE TEAM COMPETITION.
	TEAMS WITH EQUALITY OF THE PENALTIES RETAIN THE STARTING ORDER OF ROUND 1.
11.4.2.	PROVIDED HEREIN ABOVE WILL COUNT FOR THE CLASSIFICATION OF THEIR TEAM IN THE TEAM COMPETITION BUT ALSO AS THEIR PERSONAL RESULT IN THE THIRD QUALIFYING COMPETITION IF THEY ARE AMONG THE
	ATHLETES MENTIONED IN PARAGRAPH 11.3.1.1 ABOVE.
11.5.	TEAM PLACING
	TEAMS RECEIVE THEIR PLACING BY ADDING THE PENALTIES INCURRED BY THE BEST THREE ATHLETES IN EACH TEAM IN THE FIRST COMPETITION AND THE PENALTIES INCURRED BY THE THREE BEST ATHLETES IN EACH OF THE TWO ROUNDS OF THE SECOND COMPETITION. THE TEAM, WHICH HAS OBTAINED THE LEAST NUMBER OF PENALTIES WILL BE PLACED FIRST AND DECLARED GOLD MEDAL WINNER.
	IN THE EVENT OF EQUALITY OF PENALTIES BETWEEN TEAMS FOR FIRST, SECOND AND/OR THIRD PLACE, THERE WILL BE A JUMP-OFF AGAINST THE CLOCK IN WHICH ALL TEAM ATHLETES MAY TAKE PART, OVER SIX OBSTACLES, WHICH MAY BE INCREASED IN HEIGHT AND/OR SPREAD AT A SPEED OF 375 M PER MINUTE. IN CASE OF EQUALITY OF PENALTIES FOR ANY OTHER PLACING, TEAMS WILL BE PLACED EQUAL.
	THE SCORE IN THIS JUMP OFF IS OBTAINED BY ADDING THE PENALTIES INCURRED BY THE THREE BEST ATHLETES
	IN EACH TEAM, BUT IN THE EVENT OF FURTHER EQUALITY OF PENALTIES, THE TIMES OF THESE THREE ATHLETES IN THE JUMP OFF ADDED TOGETHER WILL DECIDE THE WINNING TEAM AS WELL AS THOSE PLACED SECOND OR THIRD. THE SCORE OF THIS JUMP OFF IS ONLY TO DETERMINE THE PLACING OF THE TEAMS AND WILL NOT COUNT
	TOWARDS THE FINAL SCORES OF THE INDIVIDUAL ATHLETES.
	IF TWO JUMP OFFS ARE REQUIRED, THE JUMP OFF FOR THE THIRD PLACE SHALL PRECEDE THE JUMP OFF FOR THE FIRST AND THE SECOND PLACE.
	IF AFTER THE JUMP-OFF THERE IS EQUALITY OF PENALTIES AND TIME FOR ONE OF THE FIRST THREE PLACES, THE TEAMS CONCERNED WILL BE PLACED EQUAL.
	TEAMS NOT TAKING PART IN ROUND 2 OF THE TEAM COMPETITION PROVIDING THEY ARE NOT ELIMINATED OR RETIRE IN ROUND 1 RECEIVE THEIR PLACING BY ADDING THE PENALTIES INCURRED BY THE THREE BEST ATHLETES IN EACH TEAM IN THE FIRST COMPETITION AND THE PENALTIES INCURRED BY THE THREE BEST ATHLETES IN THE ROUND 1 OF THE TEAM COMPETITION.
	MEDALS WILL BE AWARDED FOR TEAMS: GOLD FOR THE FIRST PLACE, SILVER FOR THE SECOND PLACE AND BRONZE FOR THE THIRD PLACE.
11.6.	REST DAY
	A REST DAY MUST BE SCHEDULED BETWEEN THE SECOND AND THIRD COMPETITIONS.
12.	THIRD COMPETITION (INDIVIDUAL FINAL)
12.1.	CONDUCT, TABLE, SPEED
	THIS THIRD COMPETITION IS CONDUCTED OVER TWO ROUNDS (A) AND (B) EACH JUDGED UNDER TABLE A NOT AGAINST THE CLOCK WITH A TIME ALLOWED AT A SPEED OF 375 M PER MINUTE (JRS ART. 238.1.1).
<del>12.2.</del>	OBSTACLES, LENGTH OF THE COURSES
12.2.1.	<del>-ROUND A</del>
	TEN TO TWELVE OBSTACLES, INCLUDING ONE DOUBLE AND ONE TREBLE OR THREE DOUBLES. HEIGHT: 1.40 M MAXIMUM WITH A SPREAD IN PROPORTION, NOT EXCEEDING 1.60 M (1.80 M FOR THE TRIPLE BAR). A MAXIMUM OF TWO SPREAD OBSTACLES WITH A WIDTH OF 1.00 M OR LESS MAY BE USED.
	SLOPING WALLS DO NOT COUNT AS COMPULSORY VERTICAL OBSTACLES. WATER JUMP IF USED (SEE PARAGRAPH 9.3): 4.00 M MAXIMUM (INCLUDING THE TAKE-OFF ELEMENT).
	LENGTH: 500 M MINIMUM, 600 M MAXIMUM.
<del>12.2.2.</del>	ROUND B

A DIFFERENT COURSE FROM ROUND A COMPRISING EIGHT TO TEN OBSTACLES INCLUDING ONLY ONE COMBINATION (ONE DOUBLE OR ONE TREBLE). HEIGHT 1.45 M MAXIMUM WITH A SPREAD IN PROPORTION NOT EXCEEDING 1.70 M (1.90 M FOR THE TRIPLE BAR). A MAXIMUM OF TWO SPREAD OBSTACLES WITH A WIDTH OF 1.00 M OR LESS MAY BE USED. A WATER JUMP MAY NOT BE INCLUDED, BUT AN OBSTACLE WITH WATER BENEATH, IN FRONT OR BEHIND (A SO-CALLED "LIVERPOOL') MAY BE INCLUDED IN THE COURSE. LENGTH: 400 M MINIMUM, 500 M MAXIMUM. PARTICIPATION THIS THIRD COMPETITION IS COMPULSORY FOR ALL THE ATHLETES AND HORSES PROVIDING THEY HAVE TAKEN PART IN THE FIRST COMPETITION (COMPLETED OR NOT) AND HAVE COMPLETED THE ROUND 1 AND ROUND 2 OF THE SECOND COMPETITION (WITHOUT HAVING BEEN ELIMINATED OR HAVING RETIRED). 12.4. INSPECTION OF COURSE B ATHLETES WILL BE INVITED TO INSPECT THE COURSE FOR ROUND B AT THE CONCLUSION OF ROUND A. 12.5. STARTING ORDER 12.5.1. THE STARTING ORDER FOR ROUND A WILL FOLLOW THE REVERSE ORDER OF PENALTIES INCURRED IN THE FIRST AND SECOND COMPETITIONS. 12.5.2. THE STARTING ORDER FOR ROUND B WILL FOLLOW THE REVERSE ORDER OF TOTAL PENALTIES INCURRED IN ROUND A OF THE FINAL COMPETITION, AS WELL AS IN THE FIRST AND SECOND COMPETITIONS. THE ATHLETE WITH THE MOST PENALTIES WILL START FIRST, THE ATHLETE WITH THE LEAST PENALTIES WILL START LAST. IN THE EVENT OF ATHLETES WITH EQUALITY OF PENALTIES. THE SCORE OF THE FIRST COMPETITION WILL DECIDE THEIR STARTING ORDER. 12.6. INDIVIDUAL PLACING THIRD COMPETITION THE INDIVIDUAL PLACING FOR THIS COMPETITION IS DETERMINED BY ADDING TOGETHER FOR EACH ATHLETE THE PENALTIES INCURRED IN ROUND A AND ROUND B. THE ATHLETE WITH THE LEAST PENALTIES WILL BE PLACED FIRST AND DECLARED THE GOLD MEDAL WINNER. IN THE EVENT OF EQUALITY FOR ONE OF THE FIRST THREE PLACES AFTER ROUND B OF THE THIRD COMPETITION, THERE WILL BE A JUMP-OFF AGAINST THE CLOCK AT A SPEED OF 375 M PER MINUTE OVER EIGHT OBSTACLES FROM THE COURSES OF ROUNDS A AND B. THE ATHLETES WILL BE INVITED TO INSPECT THE JUMP-OFF COURSE. IF TWO JUMP-OFFS ARE REQUIRED, THE JUMP-OFF FOR THE THIRD PLACE SHALL PRECEDE THE JUMP-OFF FOR THE FIRST PLACE AND THE SECOND PLACE. IF AFTER THE JUMP-OFF THERE IS EQUALITY OF PENALTIES AND TIME FOR ONE OF THE FIRST THREE PLACES, ATHLETES CONCERNED WILL BE PLACED EQUAL. MEDALS WILL BE AWARDED FOR INDIVIDUALS: GOLD FOR THE FIRST PLACE, SILVER FOR THE SECOND PLACE AND BRONZE FOR THE THIRD PLACE. RIBBONS WILL BE AWARDED FOR THE FIRST SIX COMBINATIONS. SIX COMBINATIONS ARE INVITED TO THE PRIZE **GIVING CEREMONY MOUNTED.** Overall Individual classification THE OVERALL INDIVIDUAL CLASSIFICATION IS DETERMINED BY ADDING TOGETHER FOR EACH ATHLETE THE PENALTIES INCURRED IN THE FIRST COMPETITION, AS WELL AS THE TWO ROUNDS OF THE SECOND COMPETITION (DISREGARDING THE PENALTIES INCURRED IN THE JUMP OFF IF THERE IS ONE) AND THE TWO ROUNDS A AND **B OF THE THIRD COMPETITION.** <del>THE ATHLETE WITH THE LEAST PENALTIES WILL BE PLACED FIRST AND DECLARED THE GOLD MEDAL WINNER.</del> IN THE EVENT OF EQUALITY FOR ONE OF THE FIRST THREE OVERALL PLACES AFTER ROUND B OF THE THIRD COMPETITION, THERE WILL BE A JUMP OFF AGAINST THE CLOCK AT A SPEED OF 375 M PER MINUTE OVER EIGHT OBSTACLES FROM THE COURSES OF ROUNDS A AND B. THE COURSE OF THE JUMP OFF FOR THE THIRD COMPETITION WILL BE USED FOR THE JUMP-OFF FOR THE OVERALL INDIVIDUAL CLASSIFICATION. THE ATHLETES WILL BE INVITED TO INSPECT THE JUMP-OFF COURSE.

FOR ONE OF THE FIRST THREE PLACES, ATHLETES CONCERNED WILL BE PLACED EQUAL:

IF TWO JUMP-OFFS ARE REQUIRED, THE JUMP-OFF FOR THE THIRD PLACE SHALL PRECEDE THE JUMP-OFF FOR THE FIRST PLACE AND THE SECOND PLACE. IF AFTER THE JUMP-OFF THERE IS EQUALITY OF PENALTIES AND TIME

- NO ATHLETE WILL BE REQUIRED TO TAKE PART IN TWO JUMP-OFFS TO DECIDE THE OVERALL INDIVIDUAL CLASSIFICATION AND THE THIRD COMPETITION CLASSIFICATION. IF AN ATHLETE IS INVOLVED IN MORE THAN ONE TIE, E.G. A TIE FOR FIRST, SECOND OR THIRD PLACE IN THE THIRD COMPETITION AND A TIE FOR ONE OF THE FIRST THREE PLACES IN THE OVERALL INDIVIDUAL CLASSIFICATION, HE WILL PARTICIPATE IN ONLY ONE JUMP OFF, I.E. THE JUMP OFF FOR THE THIRD COMPETITION; HIS SCORE IN THIS JUMP OFF WILL COUNT AS HIS SCORE IN THE JUMP OFF FOR THE OVERALL CLASSIFICATION.
- MEDALS WILL BE AWARDED FOR INDIVIDUALS: GOLD FOR THE FIRST PLACE, SILVER FOR THE SECOND PLACE AND BRONZE FOR THE THIRD PLACE.
- 14. PRIZES
- 14.1. PRIZES MUST BE AWARDED FOR INDIVIDUAL PLACING IN THE FIRST AND THIRD COMPETITION. THE ALLOCATION OF PRIZES MUST FOLLOW THE PROVISIONS OF THE GRS. RIBBONS ARE AWARDED TO THE SIX BEST PLACED ATHLETES.
- 14.2. GOLD, SILVER AND BRONZE MEDALS WILL BE AWARDED TO EACH MEMBER OF THE THREE BEST PLACED TEAMS
  IN THE TEAM FINAL AND TO THE INDIVIDUALS PLACED FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD IN THE INDIVIDUAL FIRST
  AND THIRD COMPETITION AND THE OVERALL CLASSIFICATION.
- 15. OUALIFICATION PROCEDURE FOR THE CENTRAL AMERICAN AND CARIBBEAN GAMES
- THE QUALIFICATION PROCEDURE FOR THE CENTRAL AMERICAN AND CARIBBEAN GAMES MUST BE APPROVED BY THE FEI JUMPING COMMITTEE AND THE FEI BOARD AND WILL BE PUBLISHED ON THE FEI WEBSITE; ANY MODIFICATIONS TO THE APPROVED QUALIFICATION PROCEDURE MUST BE PRESENTED TO THE FEI JUMPING COMMITTEE AND THE FEI BOARD FOR APPROVAL.